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Thursday, September 19, 2013


--- On commencing at 8:32 a.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  

Are there any preliminary matters before we continue with Union's panel 3?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  One brief preliminary matter, members of the Board, and it's by way of correction to the transcript -- we had an offline discussion -- at page 87 and 88.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Which day?


MR. SMITH:  Of September 17th.  At pages 87 and 88 Mr. Isherwood referred to a 2.4-cent impact, and that number should be 4.8 cents.  And he referred to 500,000, or half a million, and that should be $1 million; is that correct, Mr. Isherwood?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Those are the only preliminary matters from Union's perspective.


Oh, sorry, there is one other thing.  Mr. Gruenbauer advised me that he has an engineering operational question, and while he has no time down for panel 3, he does have some time down for panel 4, and it probably makes sense that he direct the question now, subject to the Board's guidance.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.  That's fine.  I think we were going start with Mr. Quinn, though, today.


MR. SMITH:  No, absolutely, I just wanted to alert you that there would be a question from Mr. Gruenbauer, and he and I had spoken.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Yes, so I'll put him down.  If for some reason I forget you, Mr. Gruenbauer, you remind me.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, Mr. Brett?


MR. BRETT:  Yes, I have a preliminary matter, if I may.  You may recall that prior to the settlement agreement being reached the utilities were going to file -- or at least we had discussions with them to this effect -- the utilities were going to file some material on recent NEB proceedings to sort of provide a context for some of the questions that will arise with the joint panel.  And the settlement agreement sidesteps most of that, except there is one important NEB proceeding that's on as we speak, and it's a proceeding involving TransCanada seeking to amend its compliance tolls to change the provisions for diversions and the provisions for renewal of FT contracts.  And those are obviously important matters for the LDCs.  The eastern LDCs have challenged those provisions.  The hearing just ended two days ago.  And we're awaiting a Board decision.


So I think it would be helpful to the Board and to the other parties if the utilities were able to provide, prior to the joint panel, a sort of compendium of the key elements of that case.  That will avoid people arguing at the panel about whether this or that document is relevant, the point being that the LDCs are in that case now.  They have all of the material.


The results of that decision are important, because the settlement agreement does provide some comment on that.  But it is not clear, to me at least -- the settlement agreement contemplates a certain framework, and I think it's not necessarily what the NEB will decide, I guess is the way to put it.


So it seems to me we should understand that.  The Board should understand that.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  There is a proceeding, as Mr. Brett observes, in front of the National Energy Board.  It is still ongoing, in that my understanding is that TransCanada has filed its final argument, the responding parties have filed their argument.


TransCanada has not, to my knowledge, filed its reply argument.  I believe that's due next week, I believe.  Mr. Cameron would know for sure.  But I know he's working on it, so I assume it hasn't been filed yet.


The terms sheet does speak to certain aspects of the relief that TransCanada is seeking, and effectively provides that when TransCanada comes forward to the National Energy Board and seeks approval, that it will at the same time be bringing forward approvals which may have the effect of changing the outcome of what the National Energy Board has decided.


I guess my concern is -- I mean, that topic itself was discussed at some length, you may have seen, in the technical conference transcript.  And Mr. Brett is certainly free to ask questions about the impact if -- of any, of the settlement agreement, on the application that is before the National Energy Board.


I have some concern about selectively pulling documents that are in another proceeding and suggesting that those are the key documents.  Certainly from an evidentiary foundation, I have, frankly, no idea what the National Energy Board is going to find compelling in anybody's evidentiary record.  They will have -- they have been sitting for some number of weeks.  They have heard witnesses live in panels.  I don't know which portions of the transcript from TransCanada's perspective are key and which portions may be key from the LDCs' perspective.


The only neutral thing would be to file, I think, the applications, because that sets out the relief that TransCanada is requesting.  But I don't think that it would be appropriate to have a partial record and try to draw any conclusions as to which way the wind is blowing in the National Energy Board.  There will be an impact of the settlement agreement on whatever the outcome is, but I think that's the best that we can do.


And I'm happy to file the application.  That was, frankly, before the settlement agreement was arrived at.  That was my plan, was to put in only the application, because it's a neutral document.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Brett?


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Thank you.  I think that's fair enough, and I think what we would then need to do is, in addition, as intervenors, is file other documents according to the normal rules here if we're going to ask questions based on them.  I mean, we may -- I haven't read all the documents yet, but we may wish to ask questions of the joint panel that relate to matters covered in the LDCs' submissions to the NEB or the TransCanada application itself, or how these two somehow fit together, because it's not terribly clear to me how this is going to work, whatever the NEB's decision is.


So I'm -- that's acceptable to me, if they were to file the application, and then we would, if we were going to ask questions based on other documents, we would simply have to provide those in the normal course to you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  In advance, right?


MR. BRETT:  In advance, yeah.


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, if I just might respond to that last point?  Mr. Brett is perfectly free to pull documents and put them to witnesses as you would in the normal course in cross-examination, but I would ask through you that the documents be provided a minimum of 48 hours in advance because, for all I know, there could be additional context for the documents, and I'd just like the opportunity, and the witnesses to have the opportunity, to reflect on whether there's something in the record already that -- elsewhere that deals with the matter.  That's all.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


MR. BRETT:  Yeah.


MS. CHAPLIN:  That's reasonable.  So we'll give an undertaking number for the application.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.1:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE NEB APPLICATION


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  If that's everything, I think, Mr. Quinn, you're up.


MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you very much, Madam Chair.

UNION GAS - PANEL 3, RESUMED


Jim Redford, Previously Sworn


Mark Isherwood, Previously Sworn


Paul Rietdyk, Previously Sworn


Michelle George, Previously Sworn

Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  And good morning to the panel.  This last night, and again trying to look at the time we had, I thought it might be helpful to just pull the specific references I'll be referring to in my examination.  And I provided copies to Mr. Millar.  If we could have an exhibit number for that.


MR. MILLAR:  K4.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.1:  FRPO COMPENDIUM


MR. QUINN:  Good morning, witness panel, and I hope that everybody enjoyed their one-day break.  And I'll try to move quickly through what I've put in front of you, and if you can be as helpful as you were the other day, that would be great.


The first page of the exhibit, K4.1, is the interrogatory and the subsequent response by Union in attachments 1 and 2.


Am I correct in saying that these reflect the base case simulation for winter design of peak day 2015-16, showing before the Brantford-Kirkwall loop and then after the Brantford-Kirkwall loop?


MS. GEORGE:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to come back to that in a moment.  It was helpful and I appreciate the detail that was provided.  And it will likely facilitate, hopefully, an understanding of my question and concern.


But on page 4 of the compendium is a Board Staff IR that spoke to the issue of turnback, and a number of us asked about it.  But I think the best response I could find was in part (c), which is carried on page 6 of that compendium.  And if you would, this is the turnback on the Dawn-Parkway system expected between November 15 and November 19.


Am I correct in saying that Union has assessed what it deems to be at risk in part (c) of the answer, and has put its experience to work to say that the forecasted turnbacks seen in the second table on page 3 of 3, that is the forecast with the best information you have today?


MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Where I'm going with this, panel -- and I think you probably understood when you saw these various pieces come together -- is Mr. Henning was here and he was of great help in talking about the dynamics that are at play and were at play in terms of the applications as they stood when they were submitted last spring.


And part of his assessment was to basically provide a study which spoke to the change in flow dynamics in North America and the impact on North American flow dynamics, but specifically for this proceeding in Ontario.  So on page 7 of the compendium there is a figure that graphically provides the changes in flows in northeast North America but specifically Ontario as of 2025, between the periods of 2012 and 2025.  Do you have that in front of you?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do.


MR. QUINN:  The figure I want to draw your attention to is coming from Niagara through -- what would be Niagara up to, it looks like, Kirkwall, but certainly into Ontario.  There is a path that shows an increment of 605 mmcfd, which, round numbers, would convert to about 600 tJs; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Approximately, yes.  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so what we're trying to understand is -- we appreciate the analysis you've done for us in 2015-16, but at the same time flows are going to change, and this figure shows how dramatically the flows will change in that period of time.


And going back again, if I may ask you to go back to the page 2 of the attachment, we have a design -- sorry, it's attachment 1 on page 2 of the compendium.  We have a design day as laid out in this sheet.  And what I would like to ask for Union to provide to us by way of undertaking is a re-run of this simulation, basically, for the design day of 2019, 2020.


And I want to lay out a very specific example.  From the numbers that were included in Board Staff's IR, in-franchise demand has been relatively flat, and so for the purposes of simplifying the simulation, I am requesting that Union would keep in-franchise demand as flat, but demonstrate what the impact of the expected turnback that is covered in the response to Board Staff IR 10, part (c), and basically run a simulation for 2019 before and after a Brantford-Kirkwall loop, and a subsequent run that would provide a 48-inch pipe between Kirkwall and Parkway.  And not all the way to Parkway, necessarily, but that would provide a comparable amount of -- a comparable amount of capability of getting gas to the suction side of Parkway.


In other words, trying to compare apples to apples, what would it look like in terms of the length of pipe that would be needed from Kirkwall to Parkway to give a comparable effect to a Brantford-to-Kirkwall loop in 2019-20, winter, with the expected flow dynamics changes.


I covered that off fairly quickly, and so if you need clarity, please ask and hopefully I can refine it for you.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I'm not sure why you're picking 2019.  Is there a significance to that?


MR. QUINN:  Thank you for the question, Mr. Isherwood.


In looking at page 3 of 3 of Staff 10 -- that's page 6 of the compendium -- 2019 simply has the last significant change in expected turnback, and in fact you're forecasting none.  So I would be satisfied with 2018-19, but I'm looking for what would be the expected effect.


The challenge we have, Mr. Isherwood, is the numbers that Mr. Henning ran and provided in the picture on figure 4-1 of your 2013-0074 information -- or, sorry, evidence, basically does not lay out year-to-year what's going to happen.


I was trying to push ourselves out past some changes that are expected to happen in the market and whatever Mr. Henning had in his base case, to say what the flows would be.  So I chose 2019-20 because it's the last significant  year of potential volumes at risk, and Union could apply, if they believe the forecast turnback being zero, but very importantly, the additional flows that it would expect, potentially, between Kirkwall and Parkway.


And maybe that is a way of refining it, if you can provide the run but also provide the assumption as to what the base case assumption is for additional Kirkwall to Parkway volumes in 2019-20.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So although we have a forecast of throughput increase for 2015, we don't have a forecast for throughput increase for 2016, '17 or '18.  We will be doing open season later this fall that will establish increases of '16 for sure.  The only number we have on the record to date is the record that Enbridge provided from their open season of that 930,000 gJs per day of increase.


Just to explain Mr. Henning's graphic for a second, it's really a change in annual flows; that's kind of average daily annual flow.  It's not forecasting that in term of contract demand levels or IT versus FT.  It's just really just a throughput change.  And that would be, I'm assuming -- those changes happening between 2012 and 2025, not necessarily in the period we're talking here.


And I think at least part of that 605 would be flowing on the domestic line, which we've talked about a little bit as well, in terms of Enbridge's contract to go from Niagara to CDA in the domestic line.


So a lot of moving pieces.  I'm not sure how we would forecast on the demand side.  We forecast on the turnback side.  I think that's pretty clears for us in terms of Kirkwall turnback.  It's not as clear in terms of what's happening '17-'18, other than the Enbridge open season, which is really a '15-'16 number.


MR. QUINN:  That's well explained, Mr. Isherwood, and I understand the caveats you're placing on it.


As is evidenced in your response to Board Staff, Union has to apply its experience and knowledge to look at potential volumes deemed at risk and convert that into forecasted turnback, based upon your knowledge of the North American market.


I would be happy with any caveats you placed on the numbers that you would provide for 2019-20, but what I would presume is that Union would be able to at least advance the understanding that Kirkwall to Parkway -- and maybe I'll ask that as a question -- Kirkwall to Parkway will likely be -- likely have enhanced flows that would originate from Marcellus basin through Niagara.  Would that be a fair assumption?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, today we have flows of 400,000 flowing in that path.  So the system's already accommodated the first 400,000.  And TCPL is proposing to use that domestic line for 200,000 more.  So our 400, plus that 200, is getting in the ballpark of the 600.


MR. QUINN:  And that's the kind of understanding I think that you have.  What I heard from the panel the other day is you don't necessarily forecast your in-franchise needs long-term, and that's why I'm asking, keep them flat.  But you do have a handle on what the flow could be, coming from Kirkwall -- sorry, from Niagara through to Kirkwall.


And clearly, in this run, if I'm reading it correctly, you have basically simulated a flow from Kirkwall to Niagara, which doesn't necessarily make sense to the numbers you just provided now in today's market, let alone what it will be in 2019.


So what I'm trying to establish is, with an inflow of whatever Union would quantify or forecast for flows from Niagara to Kirkwall, would we be better to place the additional pipe, 48-inch, Kirkwall east, as opposed to west of Kirkwall?


MS. GEORGE:  So the most efficient build on our system right now for the Dawn-to-Parkway system is the Brantford-to-Kirkwall section.  I think it's nicely illustrated in the storyboard.  You can see that that Brantford-to-Kirkwall section is the only section on the Dawn-to-Parkway system that does not currently have a 48-inch pipe.


So that is where the bottleneck is right now.  And so that is why -- that's the most efficient first built.


MR. QUINN:  I understand.  And you don't have to turn it up, but page 8 of my compendium actually provides that arithmetic comparison.  But that was on a base case of a flow that was assumed to go from Kirkwall to Niagara.  That doesn't sound even like current conditions, let alone 2015 or the scenario that I'm asking you to provide, and that's 2019-20.


If additional flow was added in at Kirkwall, there would be more flow between Kirkwall and Parkway than there would between Brantford and Kirkwall.  And what I was going to ask, once that simulation is done, I would ask that Exhibit JT2.4, which is the last page of the compendium, be redone with a 48-inch of the comparable length to the Brantford-Kirkwall capacity, be provided, and then the same calculation that was done in JT2.4 being done again.


So I understand from Mr. Isherwood's answers there's a lot of potential unknowns.  But I believe that Union Gas has a sense of what they expect the market to do with the settlement -- the presumption the settlement agreement goes through, and that would tend to increase flows into Kirkwall from flows that are already occurring today.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. RIETDYK:  So as you know, we run our models based on what we know will happen or what we expect.  And of course, you can get into some fairly broad scenarios beyond that, in terms of speculating what may or may not happen.


Certainly the scenario that you're proposing to us is a speculation on what may or may not happen, but from a contracted demand perspective that's what we have to design our system to, in order to meet those contract demands in case somebody wants to nominate those flows on that particular section of pipeline at that given time, you know, so to that extent those are the simulations we've provided and the comparisons that we've provided on page 7 and 8 of section 8 in EB-2013-0074.  Beyond that, it would be fairly speculative on our part to try to assume what may or may not happen down the road.


MR. QUINN:  Well, Mr. Rietdyk, you already have on the record what your best estimate is in response to Board Staff 10.  You have the forecasted turnback, which tends to decrease flow Dawn to Kirkwall and Dawn to Parkway.


It is anticipated by what your expert has given you, Mr. Henning -- and maybe that's a simple undertaking for him -- is to give you the years in between, and what he would say is a peak-day flow from Niagara to Kirkwall for the winter of 2019-20.


And whatever his number is, we'd have one number to use.  But I'm looking at an inflow, not an outflow, for the purposes of design modelling, and you know as well as I that's going to change the effectiveness of the pipeline loop.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SMITH:  Subject to what the panel may say with respect to the amount of time.  I mean, I'm happy to provide something that will no doubt be heavily caveated based on what I have heard.  But in the interest of moving it along, we can probably provide something.


I don't think it's appropriate to go back to Mr. Henning at this stage, because I did not understand his evidence to be at the level of granularity that Mr. Quinn is proposing.  He was talking macro flows, and we already have Mr. Isherwood's comments today about what he understood from Mr. Henning's chart.


So in the normal course, we wouldn't be asking people who aren't under oath to go do things.  But subject to what the panel has to say about whether this is possible, and the amount of time, I mean, I'm happy to give a best-efforts undertaking to provide something.


MR. RIETDYK:  I mean, we could certainly undertake to work with Mr. Isherwood and Mr. Redford and speculate on what the flows on an instantaneous day may or may not be.  I'm not sure how much value that has.  We could provide, you know, some different scenarios if that would be helpful.


But, you know, at the end of the day we have to rely on our contracted values and what we expect will happen in the future, and that's what we need to design our system for.


MR. QUINN:  I appreciate that, Mr. Rietdyk.  Your contracted values and what you would expect to happen.  To Mr. Smith's point, maybe we could ask as part of that undertaking that Mr. Henning be asked if he can provide a peak flow based on the models he has, the base case model he has.  He doesn't have to create anything else.  But what would a peak-day flow in '19-'20 look like.  And that would give you a starting point, so you would just have to do one analysis, and not multiple ranges of analysis.


MR. SMITH:  I'm extremely reluctant to go to Mr. Henning and ask him without there being an evidentiary foundation that he -- that's what his modelling involves and that he's capable of doing it.  I don't think that we should be required to give an undertaking to do that, that had been something that Mr. Quinn had wanted to test to see whether or not Mr. Henning could even do that, it would have been appropriate to have asked him.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, that may be the case, but he didn't, for whatever reason.


I think maybe the best way to proceed -- Mr. Quinn, the way I understand it, I mean, I think Union is agreeing to do some level of technical analysis.  But am I correct in understanding what you're trying to explore is whether or not it would be a better option to not build Brantford to Kirkwall and instead build somewhere along the line between Kirkwall and Parkway?


MR. QUINN:  That's exactly it, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And from a flow perspective, and also from a cost perspective, that's your sort of hypothesis?


MR. QUINN:  From my flow perspective and an economic perspective, that is an important aspect of what --


MS. CHAPLIN:  And you're basing that on what you're gleaning from the evidence as to what the longer-term picture is for net flows in and around the system.  Is that the case?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  And if I may add, there's already evidence on the record, Union spoke to the change to the Parkway obligation, and using some turnback for Parkway obligation, but that still hasn't been heard, evidenced, or decided upon for sure.


With that, it is pretty clear from the answer they gave Board Staff, the part of the pipeline that's at risk for turnback is predominantly Dawn-to-Kirkwall.  The part that is -- the market is desiring is Kirkwall-to-Parkway.  And I have a question that could help us understand that, and I can ask that, if that's all right.


But I want to deal with the request for a simulation to demonstrate an inflow at Parkway and then the relative economics of going east from Kirkwall, as opposed to going west from Kirkwall.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So I think what would make sense is if Union does undertake to do the technical analysis, but also to include whatever qualitative explanation they could provide, in terms of helping us understand that comparative analysis between the -- the option that Mr. Quinn is proposing.


With respect to Mr. Henning, I think it would be reasonable for Union to ask Mr. Henning if, within the material he has already provided and the runs he has already done, a number for 2020 can be extracted without difficulty.  I don't think that that would be a problem.  So I think that would be a good way to proceed.


Is that satisfactory?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Give that a number, please.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.2, and I hesitate to try and summarize what has just been said, but if I got it right, I think it's to re-run the analysis in FRPO IR 22 using -- is it using a 2019-2020 winter?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  In addition to that, Mr. Millar, I think the witness panel understood this, but it is also then to do the Exhibit JT2.4, which is the last point of the compendium that looks at the economics of the respective pipelines.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.2:  TO RE-RUN ANALYSIS IN FRPO IR 22 USING A 2019-2020 WINTER, AND TO RE-RUN ANALYSIS IN EXHIBIT JT2.4.


MR. QUINN:  And if I may -- and this will be my last question, panel, with Chair Chaplin's clarifications -- the question I didn't ask, and I don't want to do that again, you also -- implicit in your runs and your look at volume assessment deemed at risk and forecasted turnback, there would be expectations for the Kirkwall-to-Parkway link.


What I would like to add is if you could expand those tables to include Kirkwall-to-Parkway, even if the Kirkwall-to-Parkway numbers are netted in this table, break them out just to show what your assumptions are.  And that way it will help us reinforce, I guess, flow between Kirkwall and Parkway versus Brantford-to-Kirkwall.  Are you comfortable with that aspect?


MS. GEORGE:  Which table are you referring to?


MR. QUINN:  Board Staff 10, page 3 of 3.  volumes deemed at risk, forecasted turnback.  Thank you.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Are you asking for growth?  Or is that table all about turnback?


MR. QUINN:  I guess I read the table as volumes deemed at risk being all the contracts that could be turned back.  Forecasted turnback would -- Union would apply its experience to say which contracts it thinks might be turned back and they would net out, potentially, Kirkwall-to-Parkway.  But maybe said very explicitly:  What are your assumptions about Kirkwall-to-Parkway flows in that period?  So as opposed to having a netting out, just provide us with what those flows would be in that period, but ultimately getting to 2019-20 as to what the inflow at Kirkwall is and the flow between Kirkwall and Parkway would fall out of this analysis.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just to be clear, we don't have a forecast of Kirkwall-to-Parkway volumes going out to '19.


For your undertaking, we will make some assumptions and we will definitely include something there, but this table is more precise around what the actual forecasted turnback is.


MR. QUINN:  Appreciate that, Mr. Isherwood.  As long as you're explicit in those assumptions, that would be helpful.  Thank you very much.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  So, Mr. DeRose, I understand maybe you don't have any questions?


MR. DeROSE:  Correct, Madam Chair.  We don't for this panel.  Unless you want me to abide by the 20 minutes, I'm sure it's fine.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Rubenstein?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I just have a question arising from the discussions that were happening on Tuesday with Mr. Brett.


Mr. Isherwood, you said that it was your understanding that if Enbridge's segment A is approved as a distribution-only pipeline, it would still require compression at Parkway, those volumes?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I said that, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so -- and my understanding also from what you had -- your discussions with Mr. Brett was that if it was a distribution-only pipeline, it would still require incremental compression capacity and you would still need to build Parkway D; is that --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my question is:  What is the point, what is the sort of what I would call the tipping point with respect to segment A, where you would -- where the volumes that would flow on segment A would not require the building of Parkway D, and the compression could be handled by compressors A and B?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's probably a better question for Enbridge, actually, because it really depends on the final pressure they get at the Albion station.  So it would be depending on the volume going through their pipe and the pressure loss or pressure drop that they get between Parkway and Albion.  So they may have a better idea of what that Tipping point would be.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I just don't want to be in the situation where I ask them and they then come back and say they don't know at what -- through your compressors, A and B --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The contractual obligation we have on the suction side of Parkway is 500 pounds pressure.  So they then have some minimum pressure they need at Albion, and that will create the tipping point volume you're referring to.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Well, thank you very much.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Gruenbauer?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Gruenbauer

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Morning, panel.  Jim Gruenbauer, representing the natural gas utility of the City of Kitchener, which I'm sure you know is both a T3 and M12 customer of Union Gas.


Just wanted to start very quickly with the storyboard, just to confirm my understanding of physically where Kitchener is located and served from the Dawn-Trafalgar system.


My understanding is -- and correct me if I am wrong -- that we're located between Bright and Kirkwall, probably closer to Bright than Kirkwall, and we're served from the Owen Sound lateral; is that correct?


MS. GEORGE:  That is correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  And page 2 of Mr. Quinn's compendium was very helpful to me this morning in taking care of a couple of questions that I don't have to ask now.


Now, as I understand it, a significant portion of the proposed Parkway West project with current estimated costs of $219.4 million -- I think I heard that number the other day when I was here -- a chunk of that is for loss of critical unit or LCU protection at Parkway; is that correct?


MS. GEORGE:  Yes.  The $219 million is for loss of critical unit.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  So all of it is?


MS. GEORGE:  It's to build the Parkway West project, which is the loss of critical unit.  It's the reliability project.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.


Now, my understanding is that there are LCU facilities installed and in-service at other compressor stations located on the Dawn-Trafalgar system; is that correct?


MS. GEORGE:  Yes.  That is correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.


And I expect this information is in the evidence.  For example, the other day I recall seeing compressor information in Union's response to Board Staff IR No. 13 on issue A3, but could you please tell me where those other LCU facilities are located?


MS. GEORGE:  We have LCU coverage for Lobo and Bright, and it's located at Lobo.  And we have LCU coverage at Dawn.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  That's what I thought was the case, and I appreciate you confirming that.


And my last two questions are very similar.


Could somebody please walk me through what would happen to Kitchener's ability to receive gas from the Owen Sound lateral if there was a compressor failure at Dawn, Lobo or Bright with your existing facilities and the system design?  And to make it final, let's assume that failure occurred under peak winter conditions.


MR. RIETDYK:  So currently there would be no impact because we do have LCU coverage for those sections of pipe.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  So let me pose the same question for you, but let's assume the compressor failure on peak day occurs at Kirkwall or Parkway, downstream of the Owen Sound lateral, with your existing facilities and system design.


So what happens to Kitchener's ability to receive gas from the Owen Sound lateral under those circumstances?


MR. RIETDYK:  So what we're proposing is to install the LCU at Parkway.  There's no impact upstream of Parkway, so between Dawn and Parkway all the impact would be downstream of Parkway.  So in Enbridge and to our northern and eastern Ontario customers and GMI.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  So if I can rephrase or infer, there would be, with the existing facilities, not the proposed facilities, if there's a compressor failure at Kirkwall or Parkway today, our ability to receive gas on a peak day would not be impacted by that failure downstream of Owen Sound?


MR. RIETDYK:  That's correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Great.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. ELSON:  Madam Chair, could I request your indulgence to ask one very brief unscheduled question?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  Just one moment, Mr. Elson.


Mr. Poch, I'm correct that you completed yesterday?


MR. POCH:  Yes, Your Honour.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So was there anyone else that had questions?  I don't have anybody else on my schedule for this panel, I don't think.  So go ahead.  That's fine.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Panel, my name is Kent Elson.  I represent Environmental Defence.


Are there any lines in the Union system that operate at about 30 percent SMYS?


MR. RIETDYK:  Yes, there are.  Yes, there are.  Yes, there are lines that operate above 30 percent SMYS.


MR. ELSON:  Could you provide an undertaking to provide a list of those lines?


MR. RIETDYK:  We could.  It's readily available.  Is there something you're looking for specifically that we could be more helpful?


MR. ELSON:  Just a list of those lines.  If it's already on the evidence, that may not be necessary, but if it's not on the evidence, if you could provide that by way of undertaking, it would be much appreciated.


MR. RIETDYK:  We could provide that.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.3:  TO PROVIDE A LIST OF THE LINES IN THE UNION SYSTEM THAT OPERATE AT ABOUT 30 PER CENT SMYS


MR. ELSON:  I have no further questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Smith, do you have anything in re-examination?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, I have one question.

Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Members of the panel, on Tuesday you were asked a question by Mr. Brett in relation to BOMA 54(d).  You might recall a question around arithmetic.  And Mr. Brett took you to the various horsepower required to meet various contracted demands.  Do you recall that?


MS. GEORGE:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  It adds up to approximately 24,000 horsepower, by my math.  My understanding is you're proposing a horsepower -- compressor of about 44,000 horsepower.  Can you just tell me why the difference between those two?


MS. GEORGE:  Yes.  So that list includes only the additional information that was asked in the undertaking.  The -- we also need to consider the 400,000-gJ-a-day shift from Enbridge for suction to discharge in developing the horsepower requirement.  And it is reduced a little by the existing surplus.


So the requirement -- the horsepower requirement for all of the growth volumes that have been explained in the evidence is 29,690 horsepower.  And when we're designing our system we look at what is the most efficient build for the requirements that we have that we're aware of now, as well as what we're expecting in the future.


So in this case, we looked at a unit that was 30,000 horsepower that would cover the existing requirements, as well as the 44,500 horsepower.


The costs of those two options are essentially the same, and you get 50 percent more horsepower with the 44,500 horsepower.  And given that we are anticipating growth through Parkway, whether it is expanding the Dawn-to-Parkway path or repurposing the Dawn-to-Kirkwall turnback to Dawn to Parkway, we are expecting we'll need more horsepower at Parkway in the future, and that is why we are designing the 44,500 horsepower unit.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

Questions by the Board:


MS. CHAPLIN:  And I have one area of questions, and I apologize, I believe they probably were more suitable for the prior panel, but Mr. Isherwood, since you were...


MR. SMITH:  He'll be on panel 4 too. 


[Laughter]


MS. CHAPLIN:  And that's around Union's request for pre-approval of the cost consequences of the long-term contracts.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And I just must confess I'm somewhat confused.  We don't actually have the contracts before us yet; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So what is -- and this may be a question as much for Mr. Smith to address in argument, but sort of on what basis -- what we are approving, if we don't actually have the terms and conditions before us?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The TCPL contracts are very standard, so it's really the path, and the volumes and the financial results of those contracts.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But do we know the tolls?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In the evidence, we actually filed the tolls based on TCPL's projected tolls, and it's since gone now to the compliance tolls.  And it may still evolve back to the settlement tolls, you know, ideally.


So what we're trying to get to, though, is, the cost differential, that $15.4 million, is the same, either as filed or with the settlement tolls.  They should be the same, at $15.4 million.  That's really the cost consequence.


MS. CHAPLIN:  The cost consequence -- well, I thought --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The savings.  The gas cost savings is the 15.4 million.


MS. CHAPLIN:  But that's -- if we're pre-approving transportation contracts, aren't we pre-approving tolls which may be subject to -- we may have some estimate by the end of this proceeding about what those tolls are going to be, but those tolls will still be subject to further change; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, the tolls will always be subject to NEB approval, so the best we can do is estimate the tolls based on the evidence we have today, and then to the extent that the NEB modifies those tolls that will happen in the future, there's really no control over that.


What we're trying to do is show the difference between long-haul and short-haul and really lock in that 15.4 million.  So the evidence talks to 15.4, and the way the settlement was designed was that 15.4 would be maintained.


MR. SMITH:  If it may be of assistance, I think what the Chair is asking for is the pre-approval reflected in the evidence, and obviously we'll have to deal with this because there is the fact, which is not a great one from our perspective, that there aren't signed contracts right now.


But I think what you were asking for is, the consequences of signing a contract include the demand charges out for the period of time for the contract.  And that, of course, is based upon the tolls.


So I think your question, if I'm correct, was not directed so much at the gas cost savings but at the total demand charges.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yeah.


MR. SMITH:  And as the evidence explains, there's a rationale.  It's a very significant financial commitment, and we'll obviously have to address that.  But we will have an estimate based upon the settlement agreement and the toll projection that we will be providing in advance of the joint panel.


I think in the final analysis all we are going to have -- and whether that's sufficient or not, all we'll have is the volume, the proposal to go on a particular path, and what the magnitude of the financial commitment is that Union would be making when it in fact signs the precedent agreements once they become available.


As to the general parameters of the contract, we wouldn't expect those to be different.  They're a TCPL precedent agreement, and of course tolls change into the future.  But I think that's really what we have.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And Union has a variety of other contracts with TCPL for which it is not seeking pre-approval of the cost consequences?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And so what proportion do these two -- I believe it's two contracts -- represent of the total contractual commitment between Union and TransCanada?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And TransCanada?  Our total long-haul capacity today is 180,000 gJs per day, and these contracts are 70,000.  So that would be almost a third, or 40 percent.


The dilemma we have is, when you go in the TCPL open-season process, it's actually a binding bid, so we become bound to the TransCanada process before we have any chance really to get OEB approval because of the timing and difference, so we're in a bit of a better spot today, because we're asking for pre-approval now, and won't be actually signing those contracts for probably a month or two, by the time they get issued and signed.  So we're in a much better spot.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Thank you.


Those are the Board's questions.  So this panel is excused, with the Board's thanks.  And we are ready for Union's panel 4.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  If I could ask Mr. Birmingham, Mr. Hockin, and Mr. Tetreault to come forward, that would be helpful. 

UNION GAS - PANEL 4


Greg Tetreault,  Sworn


Rick Birmingham, Previously Sworn


Dave Hockin, Sworn


Mark Isherwood, Previously Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  We'll start with you, Mr. Hockin.  I gather you are the manager of strategic development of Union Gas?


MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And that's a position you've held since 2012?


MR. HOCKIN:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  Members of the Board, that position for Mr. Hockin, you will not see it; it was omitted inadvertently from his CV.  That is his current position.


You have held positions of increasing responsibility with Union since 1986?


MR. HOCKIN:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have a bachelor of arts degree in economics from Wilfred Laurier?


MR. HOCKIN:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you are a certified general accountant?


MR. HOCKIN:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have testified before this Board on approximately a dozen occasions?


MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Tetreault, if I can turn to you, I understand that you are the manager of rates and pricing of Union Gas?


MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, I am.


MR. SMITH:  And you have held that position since 2008?


MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have been employed by Union Gas in positions of increasing responsibility since approximately 1998?


MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have a bachelor of commerce degree, finance, from the University of Windsor?


MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  And you have a geography degree from that institute as well?


MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have testified before this Board on a number of occasions in relation to rates and pricing?


MR. TETRAULT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Members of the panel, my understanding is that you are here to speak to issues A2, A3, B5 and C5, and I would ask if you adopt the evidence prefiled by Union in respect of those issues.


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  We do.


MR. SMITH:  As well as the interrogatories?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  We do.


MR. SMITH:  Members of the panel, I do have just a couple of brief questions in examination-in-chief, if I may.


Mr. Isherwood, can I ask you to turn to page 37, bottom of page 37, bottom of page 37 of section 11 of the 0074 evidence.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.


MR. SMITH:  Do you have that, sir?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And beginning at the bottom -- I'm sorry, page 38, beginning at the bottom, there is a heading that says:  "Impact of Union's contract changes on TCPL tolls and Union customers"; do you have that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  Could you please describe the work that's done at that section 5 over to page 39, if you could, please, sir?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Just at a high level, this evidence was filed back in April of this year, and was written primarily in February and March of this year.


And that was a time when TCPL still was in the environment of cost of service.  So to the extent we had turnback of that capacity long-haul and going to short-haul, those costs would have been rolled back into the cost of service and recovered from all existing shippers.


So the amounts that are on these three or four pages really gets into recognizing that as we turn back capacity, there would be revenue shortfall on TCPL that needs to be recovered, which drives a higher toll.  TCPL has a real --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I was going to ask you -- and perhaps you were going there -- what was the ultimate impact of that analysis?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So this is based on a rule-of-thumb analysis.  The rule of thumb was for every $10 million change in revenue, there's a one-cent increase in TCPL tolls.  And that shows up, I think, on page 39.


And it results in approximately a Union North impact of about $2 million.  So to the extent that we have gas cost savings of -- we've mentioned -- 15.4 million, as a scenario we ran, what would be the impact on our customers of a TCPL toll increase, it would be about $2 million for Union North.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And how does that translate to the world we find ourselves in now, with the term sheet?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, the term sheet takes us back to cost of service, essentially, and that essentially allows TCPL to continue to build.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And have you looked at the analysis you've done here on page 38 and 39 to -- to the term sheet?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So I went back to the discussion that we had a few days back in terms of the 70,000 gJs a day of capacity that was being turned back in our case, in the $1.40 that we talked about, and that was that $35.7 million impact on TCPL revenue.


And when I -- if you assume that that gets all allocated to the Eastern Triangle, which I think is certainly one case; you may get it allocated across the broader system, but assuming it gets allocated into the Eastern Triangle --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, can I ask you why would it be allocated to the Eastern Triangle, and allocated by whom?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Eastern Triangle is really -- the focus of the Eastern Triangle, they're turning back long-haul and converting to short-haul, so it's logical that it would be allocated to Eastern Triangle shippers, primarily.


MR. SMITH:  And who are those shippers?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Today, it's obviously Union Gas, Enbridge, Gaz Métro in Quebec.  And the A and E group in the US northeast is a large part of that as well.


So I look at Ontario versus the rest of the eastern shippers on the triangle, we're about half.  So Quebec and the A and E group is about the other half, in round numbers.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So just returning, you looked at an allocation to the Eastern Triangle and to Union.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So I look at all of our capacity in the Eastern Triangle, long-haul and short-haul, and also storage transportation service, we're about six percent of the total volumes flowing on a firm basis in the Eastern Triangle.


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, what percentage was that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Six percent.  So if you look at the $35.7 million of impact, our customers would be exposed to about six percent of that, or about two million.


So we came back basically to the same number that we had in the evidence from -- filed in April, which, again, was under cost of service, and we're back to cost of service.  And the impact for northern customers on this example is about $2 million.


MR. SMITH:  So we've heard the discussion about the 15.4 million, but to close the loop, what does the analysis you've just done do to your projected gas cost savings?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So if we include the sensitivity in terms of increased TCPL tolls, it would reduce the 15.4 to 13.4.


MR. SMITH:  And just so that people have a range, you've discussed one potential allocation methodology TransCanada could select to allocate to Eastern Triangle shippers, and I understand the rationale for that.


But if it were broader than that, do you have any sense of what the impact might be?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We did some analysis on that, and if it was allocated across all volumes on TransCanada, we obviously have more volume going to the WDA and NDA as well.  But if you looked at the broader system, that $2 million could go as high as five or six million.


MR. SMITH:  And so that would be a reduction to the gas cost savings of in the neighbourhood of five or six million off of the 15; have I understand that correctly?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Right.  So the 15.4 would go down, potentially, to 9.4.


MR. SMITH:  If it was the full amount?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Pardon me?


MR. SMITH:  If it was the $6 million?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  This may be obvious, but how does that analysis change if the volumes on the TransCanada system were to decrease in the future, for example?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If the throughput on TransCanada decreased?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, it gets allocated across fewer units at that point.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Mr. Brett, I believe you are first, again with 30 minutes; is that correct?


MR. BRETT:  Yes, that's right.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:


MR. BRETT:  Thank you, Madam Chair, panel.


Just a preliminary question, Mr. Birmingham.  Am I correct in understanding that Enbridge's share of the total M12 revenues is about -- of Union is about two-thirds?  In other words, Enbridge, if you add up the total revenues that Union currently receives from the M12 contracts, that the share of that that's being paid by Enbridge is about two-thirds?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That sounds -- I don't know the exact number, Mr. Brett, but it's probably in that order of magnitude.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, Mr. Birmingham, you were having discussions a day or two ago with Mr. Wolnik about the issue of prudency, and you -- the transcript -- I don't know that you need to turn it up, but let me give you the gist of what -- I think what you said.  The transcript reference is page 83, page 84.


But you distinguish sort of two senses of the word "prudency".  And one sense was the prudency associated with the decision to make the investment in the first place, and I'm referring here, of course, to the Parkway West investments and the compressor D and the pipeline, the Brantford-to-Kirkwall pipeline, so the prudency to actually make those investments.  And these are the investments that are now before the Board for leave-to-construct.


You say that will be done by the Board in this proceeding, effectively.  They would determine that prudency in this proceeding.


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's correct, Mr. Brett.  They will determine whether the project is in the public interest and therefore is prudent for Union to make, based on all the information that we have provided at this time.


MR. BRETT:  And when you say they would determine the prudency, what criteria would they be looking at?  For example, would they be looking at the -- whether the project is needed to serve customers or to maintain system reliability/integrity?  Is that one of them?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I hate to actually speak for the Board, Mr. Brett, but our experience has been that under leave-to-construct applications, when the Board is -- the overall criteria is that the project be in the public interest.


A number of additional criteria apply to that overall determination, and often those are, whether the project is needed, whether there are cost-effective alternatives, whether the timing's appropriate.  Pretty much all the significant characteristics of the project get looked at.


MR. BRETT:  In addition, though, in this particular instance, unlike most of -- unlike all of your -- I think unlike all of your leave-to-construct applications to date, you're also asking the Board to guarantee the recovery of the funds necessary to construct those facilities.  You're wanting a guarantee in advance that those facilities can be paid for by rates in the future; is that right?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  We have asked under this application for rate recovery under section 36 of the Act for these costs.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  So that's a yes.  Are you agreeing with me?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  We have asked for advance approval; that's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Now, do you agree with me that one of the criteria ought to be, appropriately would be, that the project -- you should be able to demonstrate that the project is the most cost-effective manner of achieving the project's objective relative to the reasonably available alternatives?  Is that a reasonable criteria?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I believe it is, Mr. Brett, and in fact, that is one of the criteria that we explicitly lay out in the capital cost pass-through mechanism within the incentive regulation settlement agreement.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.  You're quite right about that.  You also laid out, or we also laid out, the criteria that the project cannot reasonably be delayed; is that right?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Now, you also identified a second aspect of prudency.  Now, let me step back a half a step.


Would you agree with me that heretofore, for the most part, when the Board has talked about or used the concept of prudency in its decision, it's a somewhat different use than the one we've just been talking about?  The Board would look at a project after it is completed, look at the results of the project in the overall sense, including the costs, the actual costs relative to what the costs were, and then they would, by putting themselves in the shoes of the -- as best they could, of the applicant, in terms of what the applicant knew or ought to have known at the time the applicant built the project, the Board would determine whether the outcome is reasonable.  Is that a fair summary?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I wouldn't agree with that completely, Mr. Brett.  I do agree that the Board will look at the actual costs of the construction, and to the extent that there's a variance in that cost from the one that they gave us pre-approval for, they would take a look at the causes of those variances and determine whether the costs were prudently incurred.


MR. BRETT:  And so in your view it's only the costs that are the subject of the prudency review, not any other aspect of the functionality or the function of the project?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Well, I suppose, Mr. Brett, if there was some evidence that the project wasn't performing the way it was anticipated, that the Board would want to have a look at that.


MR. BRETT:  All right.


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  But the discussion that I was having with Mr. Wolnik was that there was two aspects of the prudence:  one, at the time that the investment's going to be made; and then second, to the extent that there are cost variances, they get dealt with through our proposal for a deferral account and an annual disposition of that amount.


MR. BRETT:  And the understanding you have is that if the Board were do -- let me put it another way, a little more clearly.


Would you agree with me that the commitment that you were seeking to get sort of rate approval in advance to fund these projects would always be contingent upon the Board determining, in their conventional prudency review, that the costs were prudent?  Their after-the-fact review, if I can put it that way.


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I'm not sure I've got your question, Mr. Brett.  Let me try this.


Prudence with respect to the investment has to be done at the time the investment decision is made.  And prudence is not determined with respect to the investment after the fact, or with hindsight.


The second aspect, though, is, to the extent that the costs are different, then those do have to be reviewed and should be reviewed and will be reviewed by the Board to determine whether the variance in the cost that the Board had originally expected us to incur were properly determined and properly incurred.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  And is your view that if the Board were to find in this case that it could not give you advanced approval of the rates in this leave-to-construct proceeding, is your position then, or Union's position, that you would not proceed with the projects?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's correct, Mr. Brett.  I explained that at the technical conference at pages 44 and 45.  Simply put, the revenue requirement associated with these projects is so large -- they are the largest projects in Union's history -- that without having advance rate recovery or reasonable assurance of that rate recovery and the timing of that rate recovery, we wouldn't be able to proceed with the projects.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  Excuse me, I just want to check my notes for a moment.  And we'll move right along.


This is more of an informational question, Mr. Birmingham, but one of the agreements that you have asked

-- that I believe Enbridge has signed in connection with their precedent agreement and contract with you to move the 400,000 gJs of gas which they wish to move on Union, rather than have it move on the Mainline, TransCanada Mainline, which is the 400 as part of the 800,000 that is the reason they're purportedly building -- purported reason they're building segment A, there's an agreement called a financial assurances agreement, which is meant, I think, to protect Union in the event something goes awry and you're not able to -- you've incurred costs for this project and you're not able to -- you can't ultimately recover them.  Am I correct in -- first of all, could you tell me what the extent of that financial assurances agreement is?  What is the maximum amount that you could recover under that agreement?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The financial backstopping agreement I think you're talking about is one on the growth project, which is really the looping in the pipe and the Parkway D compressor.  And we always provide the shipper with a schedule of how that cost ramps up over time, so as time goes on, you spend more money.  So their commitment, as is Gaz Métro's commitment, it ramps up over time.  There's really no cap to it; it's really showing as -- it rumps up each month.


MR. BRETT:  Right.  It's meant to capture, effectively, what, the pre-construction, the development expenditures?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The engineering costs, the purchasing of land, the easements, that type of thing.  The early order of the compressor.


MR. BRETT:  So the schedule that I think is attached to your financial agreement that's in the evidence, as I recall, is -- and I'm not sure it's the total schedule that's there, but it speaks of numbers in the range of two million, three million.  I think the last number I saw was five million, the furthest along.


Is there a cap on that number?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  It's just a -- a ramp-up in the spending.  So a cap, I guess, would be the ultimate project if it went to fruition, but at this point in time we're just looking out sort of the next six months, next 12 months.


MR. BRETT:  And what have you spent so far on that project that would be subject to the financial services agreement -- financial backup agreement if you didn't proceed?


MS. GEORGE:  If you refer to the undertaking from the technical conference, J2.9, we provided at that time a schedule of dollars spent to date, which was to the end of June -- or to the middle of June, what we're anticipating to spend June 13th to October 1st, and then October 1st to the end of the year.


MR. BRETT:  Mm-hmm.


MS. GEORGE:  And that was split between Parkway West and the Parkway D and Brantford-Kirkwall projects.


So specific to your question, I do have the updated numbers for that.  We've spent $316,000 year-to-date for Brantford-to-Kirkwall and Parkway D.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  350,000?


MS. GEORGE:  316,000.


MR. BRETT:  So these numbers that are on here are not -- they're not -- they're much higher than that, but you're saying you've got an update that reflects that, right?  Or am I misreading this here?


This is an undertaking to us, actually, that I recall now.


MS. GEORGE:  So the dollars spent to date at the time, which was June 12th, were 201,000 on that project, and we've since spent another 13 or 15 or -- the total is 316,000.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And to date?  Or to October -- well, let's say -- have you got a more recent number, like the end of August?


MS. GEORGE:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear your question.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Sorry, I don't want -- I don't want to prolong this too much, but are you still projecting a spend from June 13th to October 1st of 1.2 million, roughly?  Am I looking at this right?


MS. GEORGE:  So we have spent -- until the end of August, we spent $316,000.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  All right.


MS. GEORGE:  And we are anticipating spending 5.5 million until the end of the year.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Rubenstein, do you have questions for this panel?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I do.  I have questions in two areas.  One is with respect to the discount cash flow analysis.  The second is with respect to the updated costs in the Parkway West project.


So first with respect to the discount cash flow analysis, would I be right that it's your understanding that the filing guidelines on the economic test for transmission pipeline applications -- which we've included in our compendium, pages 7 to 10 -- require that for transmission expansion, that a discount cash flow analysis be undertaken and that Brantford-to-Kirkwall project, that would apply to the Brantford-to-Kirkwall project?


MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.  EBO134 requires a discount cash flow analysis.  And that was done for Brantford-Kirkwall and Parkway D.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would you agree with me at a high level, one of the purposes of a discount cash flow analysis as it -- is that it provides some form of a cost-benefit analysis?


MR. HOCKIN:  It provides a cash flow analysis, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, on page 12 to 14, we provided the discount cash flow analysis that was provided in the evidence for the Brantford-to-Kirkwall project.


Now, the gas savings costs that are in the discount cash flow analysis, my understanding, though, those were from the original -- those were with respect to the original TCPL tolls, and that was not updated with respect to the compliance tolls and the updated gas savings costs that were provided in the April 23rd update; am I correct?


MR. HOCKIN:  It was provided on the basis of the 28.2 million.  I can give you a couple of specific numbers that would probably be helpful for you on the updated tolls.


So using the 15.4 million savings over 15 years, because the new gas contracts are proposed to be 15 years as opposed to 10 years, that would have a PI of 1.16 and a net present value of 33.8 million.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, 33.8 million?


MR. HOCKIN:  Yes, or roughly 34 million.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you to undertake to update the DCF so we have that on the record with respect to, now, the updated evidence?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll do that.


MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J4.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.4:  TO UPDATE DCF WITH RESPECT TO UPDATED EVIDENCE FOR COMPLIANCE TOLLS AND GAS SAVINGS COSTS.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, my understanding from the first two panels was that the gas savings costs, while you would require to un -- to realize those cast savings costs, not only would you need to do the Brantford-to-Kirkwall project, there would need to be the transportation aspect of Enbridge's segment A, and TCPL would need to do their Kings North project; am I correct?  For those gas savings costs to be realized?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But in this DCF analysis, you've only included the incremental capital for the Brantford-to-Kirkwall project?


MR. HOCKIN:  That's correct.  That's the only thing that's applicable in this case.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But to realize those gas saving costs, there would be added costs to Union ratepayers; am I correct?  That there would be some portion, either directly or indirectly, would be borne upon Union ratepayers for Enbridge completing the transportation component of segment A and for TransCanada to undertake the Kings North Project?


MR. HOCKIN:  The DCF is quite properly a cash flow analysis for Union; how much is Union going to spend in the way of capital, and what are the revenues or gas savings in this case that are attributable to that.


The 15.4 million number that is in the evidence is the net of the anticipated tolls that would be paid associated with that.  The cost of the third-party pipelines to create those tolls, so to speak, is moot.  It's irrelevant to the number, because the number is net of the tolls that someone would pay.  So the cash-flow analysis as we provided is complete.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I mean, I understand from the discussions in the first two panels that, regardless of the changes in the tolls, the gas savings costs, it's Union's position that that doesn't change, and many parties went over that with great detail, because the differential would remain the same.


But Union ratepayers, putting aside what you are required to provide in the DCF, Union ratepayers would be required to pay, directly or indirectly, some portion of the segment A transportation component and TCPL's King's project.  Am I correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And those tolls are calculated as part of the $15.4 million savings, included in that calculation.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But from my understanding you, the differential remains the same, but those tolls are going up, the long-haul tolls are going up and the short-haul tolls are going up, so you don't know the absolute change, you just know the -- the aim is that the differentials remain the same.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So when we look at the cost of delivering short-haul versus long-haul, we had to include in the short-haul path the use of our own Dawn-to-Parkway system, the use of segment A, as well as the King's North segment, and then the further transportation from Maple to our market.  So that whole path is included.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me look at this another way.  If you were -- originally it was expected that Union and GMI -- and earlier being before the terms sheet -- Union and GMI would be building the component from Albion to Vaughan.  Am I correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if you were providing a -- if you were in the leave-to-construct application for that proceeding and you were filling out a DCF, would you have included the same gas-supply cost savings?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, I should back up.  The initial evidence was based on TCPL building, and the current evidence is based on TCPL building.  There was a time in between where Gaz Métro and Union may have built.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So speaking of that time, if you were in a leave-to-construct application for the Albion-to-Vaughan component and you were undertaking a DCF analysis, would you have provided the same gas-supply savings costs for that project as you would have had to do for the Brantford-to-Kirkwall?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you explain that to me?  What would you have included as the gas-supply savings costs in that application, or how would it differ from what you had been seeking in the Brantford-to-Kirkwall?


MR. HOCKIN:  Well, it's speculative, because we don't have an application for that, but if I were to sit down and do the calculations, I would look at what is the cost of the line, in the sense of the capital cost, and what is the operating cost of the line, and presumably we would create a toll that would recover that, and that toll would be paid by whoever was a shipper on that line.  So it would be, if you will, akin to a third-party pipeline for, you know, an example.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Moving on to the costs.  If I can take you to page 58 of the compendium.  This is attachment -- this is attachment 1 from the project update that was provided on August 23rd for the Parkway West project.  And it shows an increase of the total estimated costs from 203 million roughly to 219 million roughly, correct?


MS. GEORGE:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to walk through a couple of these line items which have changed in cost.  And can I understand, what were the drivers of those costs changes?


So if I can take you to under the NPS 42 pipeline, "construction and labour".  So this would be essentially the third line down.  Your original filed cost was $4.35 million and the revised costs are $11.5 million.  So I was wondering if you could explain the increase in costs.


MS. GEORGE:  In January, at the time that we filed the application, we hadn't reviewed that pipeline in detail with our contractor, and so we have since then reviewed it in detail with our prime contractor.  And we had underestimated the complexity of the construction of crossing the 407.  And since then we've received updated costs, and that is what it's reflecting.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, construction labour has increased for a number of other categories, significantly for station infrastructure and for pipeline replacement and the Dawn-to-Parkway valve.  Is that a similar reason?  What's the reason for those increases?


MS. GEORGE:  It is a similar reason.  As I said, in January we had not yet chosen our prime contractor.  We've also moved further along in our design, so we have much further refined design.  Our contractor has been working with our design consultants and reviewing the requirements.


We also have a better understanding for station infrastructure of what's going to be required on the land that we've purchased.


And it also reflects some level of reduced productivity due to the significant construction workload expected in 2015 in Ontario.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And can you explain why the Board should feel comfort that the 219 is going to be roughly where Union ends up at the end of construction on this project and it won't increase, especially with respect to construction and labour costs?


MS. GEORGE:  So as I indicated, we have -- we are quite far along in our design for the Parkway West station.  Our contractor has been working with our design consultant.  Both our design consultant and our prime contractor have worked with us to build compressor stations over the last few years.

And we're at a level now where the construction costs are much more accurate, as well as the design.  And that is why we updated the costs, and we are very comfortable with the costs that we've provided.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  I did have IGUA here with five minutes, but I don't see Mr. Crane.


MR. DeROSE:  If I could indulge, I would take his five minutes. 


[Laughter]


Madam Chair, I'll also indicate -- sorry, Vince DeRose here.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, you want your 20 minutes back.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, I don't need the 20, but if I can take some credit for it, I do have a couple of questions arising out of the direct examination today that really was sort of new material that I couldn't anticipate, so if I could have my 23 minutes, that would be great.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So you'd like some time, Mr. Quinn, you would like some time.


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I'm in the same situation.  I think we -- with chief this morning we went back to the issues covered earlier that I thought was my opportunity to cross-examine them earlier, and I did.  I would have a very brief five minutes on that, if I could.


DR. HIGGIN:  Madam Chair, just to tell you that I dealt with this with Board Staff at the last time on Tuesday.  I left five minutes, because I couldn't get some of my questions answered by that panel.  So I would, as I said to Board Staff, I would like to ask those questions.  Five minutes, thank you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So everybody's -- okay.  So we'll still aim to complete this by 10:30.


Okay.  Mr. Millar, does Staff have questions?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Mr. DeRose, why don't we start with you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and I appreciate the modification of the hearing plan.


Mr. Isherwood, this morning -- first of all, did I understand right that, based on certain assumptions that you were making, the 15.4 million in savings could be reduced to -- and the two numbers I had was 13.4 million or 9.4 million, depending on various scenarios?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And those scenarios are based on assumptions that you're making about what could arise out of the term agreement, the terms sheet; is that fair?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's a direct result of that.  And the two assumptions were, if the revenue shortfall TCPL had was recovered only from Eastern Triangle, that was a $2 million case.  And if it was recovered from all shippers across the entire system, it would be in the 5- or $6 million range.


MR. DeROSE:  And is that something that you will have more clarity on once the settlement agreement is finalized?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would expect to have more clarity, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Is it possible for you to provide the analysis that you set out for Mr. Smith this morning later in this hearing when you actually have the more accurate estimates of the tolls and the settlement agreement is either completed or close to completion, so prior to the TCPL joint panel, but, I guess -- well, prior to the TCPL joint panel?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, we're still hopeful to have indicative tolls by the time the joint panel sits, and if not the actual tolls, certainly a range of tolls.


MR. DeROSE:  And what I'm asking for is, in addition to providing us with the tolls, if you can also set out the analysis which you walked through this morning with Mr. Smith, but with the actual tolls instead of your assumptions?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We can try to do that.  The only concern I have, Mr. DeRose, is the tolls that we get from TransCanada would be inclusive of all their costs, so it's hard to break out one component piece.  So we'll do our best, and if we can't do that, we'll at least share the analysis we did this morning.


MR. DeROSE:  That would be appreciated.  Secondly --


MR. SMITH:  I think we should get an undertaking number for that.


MR. DeROSE:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.5:  TO UPDATE ANALYSIS WITH ACTUAL TOLLS.


MR. DeROSE:  Secondly, Mr. Birmingham, I had talked to you on panel 1 about pre-approval of costs, and you made the comment to Mr. Brett this morning, referring to the technical conference, and I just want to make sure I understood that right, that it's your position or Union's position that if pre-approval of the costs of the project are not granted, that Union would not proceed with the project; is that correct?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Yes.  It's our evidence, Mr. DeRose, that we need both assurance of rate recovery and assurance around the timing of that rate recovery.  And if we can't get those two things, because of the magnitude of these projects, we wouldn't be able to proceed with the project.


MR. DeROSE:  And that condition was not worked into the term sheet, was it, between yourself and TransCanada and GMI and Enbridge?


There's no condition that says that pre-approval by this Board is a condition precedent to the rest of the contractual obligations under the term sheet being binding on you; correct?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  There's no -- there's nothing about the settlement between the three utilities and TransCanada that would speak to the need for advance rate recovery on our projects; that's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So there is a possibility that if this Board were to grant leave to all of your projects and to Enbridge, but without cost recovery in advance, without pre-approval, and TransCanada went to the NEB and built Kings North, that while you would be contractually obligated by the term sheet and the settlement agreement, you would just elect not to build Kirkwall-to-Brantford?  And compressor D?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That would be a very unusual circumstance, but I guess theoretically it could happen.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And the final point on the pre-approval is this.  How does your proposal for pre-approval of costs deal with cost overruns?  If there are cost overruns, do you still have the ability to come back to the Board to get approval of those cost overruns, or does the pre-approval of costs assume that you are taking the risks of cost overruns?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  It is the former, Mr. DeRose.  So we have requested a deferral account for cost variances associated with these projects.


Whether they are below or above the amount that the Board would pre-approve, the difference would get recorded in a deferral account.


That deferral account will form part of the application that we would normally make to the Board for the annual disposition of our non-commodity deferral account balances.  And the Board will have their review of those and determine the appropriate disposition at that time.


MR. DeROSE:  And so cost overruns would be subject to a -- what I would describe as a prudence review.  I appreciate that there was some debate about what that means, but there would be a prudence review on the cost overruns recorded in the deferral account; is that --


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Or cost underruns.  That's true.


MR. DeROSE:  Or cost underruns.  Fair enough.


Thank you very much.  Thank you, Madam Chair, for allowing us to have those clarifications.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.  Mr. Quinn?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and with thanks to Mr. DeRose also.  Part of my question was asked as it relates to the examination-in-chief this morning.


I understand that Union is going to do, on a best-efforts basis, an analysis which would lead what the predicted savings would be.


I would like to ask, as the next step to that, that the DCF analysis would then be run again with the savings that would be anticipated from that analysis.  Would that be undertaken also?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll do that.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And only one other question of clarification which came out of testimony, that I think Mr. Tetreault would be the person that I would tend to ask this question of.


But the other day, there was some dialogue about the Parkway obligation and the potential of the Parkway obligation being reduced or eliminated through the use of Dawn-Parkway or Dawn-Kirkwall turnback.  It's my understanding -- and I would like you to confirm for the record -- that effectively, if that solution were put in place, the costs that are currently borne by ex-franchise customers would be shifted to in-franchise customers; is that correct?


MR. TETRAULT:  That's correct, based on the change in distance-weighted demands on the Dawn-Trafalgar system, absent Parkway obligations or with a reduced level of Parkway obligations.


MR. QUINN:  And I appreciate that that will be heard in a separate proceeding, so I just want to make sure I -- understanding of, directionally, the cost consequences.


So those are my questions, Madam Chair.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I believe Mr. Quinn asked for an undertaking which wasn't marked, so that will be 4.6.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So we won't include it as 4.5.


MR. MILLAR:  We could do that.  I'm easy –


MS. CHAPLIN:  No, I'm fine with giving it a separate number, then.  It's the DCF undertaking that is the companion piece to the J4.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.6:  TO RUN DCF ANALYSIS WITH ANTICIPATED SAVINGS.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Poch?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Panel, I apologize if I didn't quite catch the import of your evidence in-chief this morning.  I was assuming this panel didn't have a lot to do for me, but it turns out it did.


Did I take it that the gist of what you're saying is that the 15.4 analysis, which was the gas cost savings that Union's in-franchise customers would enjoy as a result of your pipeline build, is what you're getting at, and you were just accounting for the allocation, the possibilities, for the shortfall it creates on the TCPL system?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  But you've only accounted for the shortfall it creates for the volumes that Union Gas customers are taking?  That's what you referred to as the six percent; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah, the evidence prefiled back in April had the same calculation based on the impact to our customers.


MR. POCH:  I understand.  But when you build this project, you facilitate Enbridge and GMI and other shippers moving loads, volumes, off of long-haul to short-haul and creating impacts, and your customers are going to bear some of the shortfall that that creates?


Just as you're diluting your shortfall on to the TCPL -- you create for TCPL by saying others are going to have to pay some of it, you're going to have to pay some of theirs; isn't that the way it works?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Absolutely.  As people go from long-haul to short-haul, it creates revenue shortfalls.  And there's been many companies before us or before Enbridge that have already gone short-haul, and we've been bearing those costs since they have gone.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  So I just want to make sure it's clear that you've just isolated the impact of the volumes that Union customers will get, not all the volumes that this pipeline project enables, and what that will do to the final gas costs for your customers.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  We believe the appropriate analysis is to look at our customer impacts.


MR. POCH:  But you would acknowledge that building this pipeline creates other impacts for your customers?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So the impact of, for example, Gaz Métro or Enbridge or Union switching is all recovering in the surcharge component that's discussed in the settlement.


So our analysis is just looking at the impact of our decision on our customers.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And your point was you're going pick up six percent of the shortfall you're creating with the volumes that are destined for your customers; correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. POCH:  But you're going to pick up six percent of the shortfall that Enbridge -- that the downstream shippers facilitated by this project create as well?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  So said differently, if we did nothing, we switched no volumes to short-haul, and others did, as they have previously, we would continue to pick up those costs.


MR. POCH:  Yes, but it's your pipeline that enables others to do that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And TransCanada's pipeline, Enbridge's pipeline.  It's the system operation.


MR. POCH:  Right.  Thank you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Dr. Higgin?
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.  I would just like to follow up some questions I started with on panel 1, but they were going to get into more of the economic analysis, and therefore that's why I'm asking them today to this panel.


So you've just been talking to Mr. Rubenstein about the schedule that I'd like to start from, and that's the EB-2012-0433, August 23rd, 2013 update, and the attachments to that, and the schedules.  If you could have those handy, that would be very helpful.


So just to summarize, and we'll start looking at the second page, or paragraph 9, which is the update to page 100 of 121 of the pre-filed evidence.  If you could turn that up.  This is the updated page 100.  It's on the screen now.  Do you have that?


MS. GEORGE:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.


So just as a way to start this one, amongst the other costs that have increased then overall, the total station costs -- that is, the originally 90.6, now 103.3, rounded

-- have increased; and secondly, as you've just covered with Mr. Rubenstein, the connecting pipeline, the 42-inch connecting pipeline, to existing Parkway site for reasons you've said, it has gone up as well, okay?


MS. GEORGE:  That's correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  So by my calculation then the total -- my definition, not yours -- site development costs now are approximately 120.9, 123.3 million, if you just add those two numbers.  That's the 103 plus the 17,666; correct?


MS. GEORGE:  So we define --


DR. HIGGIN:  I said my definition, please.


MS. GEORGE:  So you're asking me if 103 plus 17 is --


DR. HIGGIN:  Correct.


MS. GEORGE:  -- 120 million?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MS. GEORGE:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So we've had a number of discussions as to how these site development and interconnection costs should be allocated.  We've been there quite a bit.


And what we would like to do is put the hypothetical to you that, instead of these costs being allocated all to the Parkway West LCU, 50 percent of them would go and be allocated to the other project, which includes the Parkway D compressor.  That's my hypothetical proposition.  You may not agree with that.  So what I would like to do is to get the impacts that that would create.


So turning to the schedules that attach to this update -- and those are the schedules 12-1 through to 12-5 that are attached -- those show the revenue requirements and the rate impacts.


So what we would like you to do is make the switch -- that is, 60.5 million -- to the revenue-requirement calculations for Parkway West LCU.  That would be the first thing we would like you to do.


So can you please provide a schedule or the schedules with that as the premise?


MS. GEORGE:  If I could start with the 17.6 million that you've called site infrastructure costs.  The 42-inch pipeline is required to connect to the TCPL system purely for the LCU.  If we didn't build the LCU we wouldn't need the 42-inch pipeline.  So I do think it would be more appropriate to use a number of 103 million.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  If you would prefer, that would be fine.  I will accept that change, although, as you know, there's big concerns about the fact that that cost has gone up -- has doubled and will be added to the LCU cost.  That's why I put it in the basket, as I did.


Okay.  Anyway, I can accept that, as 103, as being the gross amount.  And 50 percent of that then would be the amount that would be allocated to the LCU, and the rest to Parkway D.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can do that.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.7.


UNDERTAKING NO. J4.7:  TO UPDATE SCHEDULES 12-1 THROUGH 12-5 SHOWING COSTS OF 103 MILLION ALLOCATED 50 PERCENT TO PARKWAY D PROJECT


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So now then we look at the other side of the equation, which is Parkway D.  You knew this would be the next one.  So Mr. Rubenstein took you to EB-2013-0074, section 9, and specifically the schedules that are not at the section 9 but are in the evidence.  It's 9-3A and 9-3B, right?  He took you to those?  These are the DCF analyses.


So perhaps you could just tell us right now, because it isn't on the record, what's the big difference between 9-3A and 9-3B in your base case?


MR. HOCKIN:  It is in the record and in one of the interrogatories.  I just didn't pull it up, but I will mention to it that the difference between schedule 3A and 3B is the gas cost savings.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  There is another cost, which perhaps you could outline.  The revenue is different as well, correct?


MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.  It is fully explained in one of the interrogatories, so maybe I'll just point to it for the record...


Failing my test.


DR. HIGGIN:  It --


MR. HOCKIN:  Why don't I handle it orally, because it's just as easy to --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, just give us a directional --


MR. HOCKIN:  The capacity of the line for Brantford to Kirkwall and Parkway D combined is 433,000 gJs or 433 tJs.  In the case where we are – schedule 3A, we are using 70,000 for gas supply and 363,000 for M12 service.  In the case where -- in case 3B, if there is no gas supplied, then all 433,000 would be allocated to the M12 service, and that's the difference between the volumes and the revenue stream that are attributable to that.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thanks for that explanation.


And so what I would ask you to do is to redo the 9-3A and B using the shift of half of the site development costs, estimated 50 percent of 103.5, to redo that analysis.  You are already producing an updated version for Mr. Rubenstein of 9-3A, correct?  You've been asked to do that.


MR. HOCKIN:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  I believe that was 3.5?  Was that the --


MR. SMITH:  You don't need to persuade me anymore.  We'll do it.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.8:  TO REDO THE 9-3A AND 9-3B ANALYSIS USING THE SHIFT OF HALF OF THE SITE DEVELOPMENT COSTS, ESTIMATED 50 PER CENT OF 103.5


DR. HIGGIN:  So just by way of --


MR. HOCKIN:  May I confirm, you're asking for both schedule 3A and 3B, Schedule 9-3A and --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I would like both base case for each, as Mr. Rubenstein has asked, and the one with the shift.


MR. HOCKIN:  Thank you.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So if we could just go to the bottom line and get your opinion on this.  If the Parkway West site developments costs were reallocated in my hypothetical proposition, then what would be directionally the impact on in-franchise and ex-franchise customers that would bear the costs directionally?


MR. TETRAULT:  Dr. Higgin, I would not expect there to be much, if any, rate impact associated with that.  Reallocating the costs from one project to the other will have an impact on the individual impacts of the individual projects.  However, ultimately we'll be combining both projects and allocating the costs of both projects based on Board-approved cost-allocation methodologies, so when you combine them, I would expect the impact to be virtually nothing.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And also, Union is kept whole in any event, right?


MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, we are seeking to recover the costs associated with the project in rates.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Gruenbauer?


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So do you still have ten minutes?  I guess I thought you had asked your questions to the prior panel.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  No, I don't have ten minutes, Madam Chair.  Probably five, thanks to the five minutes with the prior panel.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Gruenbauer

MR. GRUENBAUER:  Morning, panel.  Jim Gruenbauer, representing City of Kitchener.


I did provide a compendium a couple of days ago.  Could we have that marked, please?  I left copies with Mr. Millar, and a soft copy was filed on the weekend.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  This will be Exhibit K4.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.2:  COMPENDIUM OF CITY OF KITCHENER


MR. MILLAR:  And I'll bring some up for the Panel.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.


Could you please turn to page 2 of Exhibit K3.2?  And I suspect my questions will be for you, Mr. Tetreault.


In the response to part (c) of this interrogatory, you speak to the "approved cost allocation methodology for costs associated with Parkway that are allocated between in-franchise and ex-franchise rate classes using distance-weighted Dawn-to-Parkway design day demands."


Do you see that passage?


MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, I do.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Has that methodology been used to allocate costs to rate classes in the cost study for loss of critical unit facilities wherever those facilities are located on the Dawn-to-Parkway system?


MR. TETRAULT:  Yes.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.


So the same cost allocation methodology is used for the costs of the legacy LCU facilities, if I can call them that, as for the proposed LCU facilities in the Parkway West project?  Is that right?


MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.


Okay.  If you could please turn to page 4 of Exhibit K3.2, now, this attachment was provided in response to our Interrogatory No. 2 on issue A3, and compares the cost allocation impacts of the 2016 Parkway West project revenue requirement for in-franchise rate M1 customers -- that's small-volume general service customers -- with rate T3, which is Kitchener.  You see that attachment?


MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, I do.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  So if we look at line 3 of the attachment, that line sets out functionalized Dawn-to-Parkway transmission demand costs.


Would that line capture the LCU costs on the Dawn-to-Parkway system that we were just speaking about?


MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, it would.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Thank you.  So for Kitchener under rate T3, the Parkway West project adds $137,000 of Dawn-to-Parkway transmission demand-related costs to the annual revenue requirement in 2016, to be recovered in the rate -- assuming approval by the Board –- of the facilities, and pre-approval of the cost consequences.  And I see that difference in column J at line 3 of that attachment; have I got that right?


MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, that's correct.  Based on this IR response, recognizing that the Parkway West costs have been updated slightly since this time with our August 23rd update.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  You just anticipated my next question.  I was wondering if there had been any change in these numbers since the response was filed.


MR. TETRAULT:  There would have been minor changes, very minor changes associated with the August 23rd Parkway West update.


Directionally, the increases and decreases that you see on -- in this response, by functional classification would be similar.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Finally, to the extent that Kitchener's T3 rate includes costs for LCU facilities, would it be fair to characterize that cost component as an insurance premium paid for reliability of supply?


MR. TETRAULT:  Yes, I think that's fair.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  Thank you, panel.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Appreciate it.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Smith?

Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Just a few questions.  Why don't we take them in reverse order of examination?


Dr. Higgin asked questions about reallocation of costs, I believe --


MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Smith.  Unfortunately the Panel has another commitment very promptly at 10:30.  So -- and the Board Panel does have a few questions as well.


So while I would have liked to have completed you before the break, I'm afraid we're going to need to take our break now and ask you to come back in 30 minutes, so at five to 11:00.  Thank you very much.


--- Recess taken at 10:28 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:00 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.


Mr. Millar, I understand we're going to modify the numbering of exhibits and undertakings for today and kind of this day forward?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Through inadvertence, day one was actually the day we held the technical conference.  The panel did sit that day, so that was day one, so we're actually on day four now instead of day three.  I've been calling them in error, the exhibits, K and J3.  But we're proposing to switch all the ones today and call today 4, going forward.


I understand that on the transcripts the court-reporting team may have actually already retroactively changed the old ones, so we'll sort that out.  We don't want there to be filings coming in that say the wrong number.  But certainly going forward from today, today is now day four.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And also, the Board can advise parties that we are now available to sit for this proceeding on September 26th.  So that will hopefully -- and we will work out whatever modifications that means to the order of witness panels, I guess, maybe next week.


All right.  Mr. Smith.  You were interrupted in the middle of your re-examination.

Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, members of the Board.


Beginning with a question that Dr. Higgin asked in relation to Schedule 12.1, I took the evidence ultimately that there wouldn't be an impact on rates, but setting that issue aside, would it be appropriate in Union's view, members of the panel, to reallocate those costs?


MS. GEORGE:  We allocated the station infrastructure costs to the LCU project because that is a project that goes first.  We require the -- as we've said previously, we require the LCU regardless of growth.  We need to build the reliability into our system.


MR. SMITH:  So do I take it then that in Union's view it would not be appropriate for that reason to reallocate the costs?


MS. GEORGE:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Birmingham, you were asked questions, I believe it was by Mr. DeRose and others, perhaps, about Union's requests in this proceeding with respect to pre-approval.  Do you recall that?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And can you describe for me how, if at all, in substance the requests made by Union in this proceeding for leave-to-construct and section 36 approval vary from what is contemplated by the IRM settlement agreement?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  They don't vary at all.  They are completely consistent with it.  The incentive regulation settlement agreement, which of course is yet to be addressed by the Board, would contemplate this very type of proceeding; that is, a leave-to-construct and request for approval, to the extent that the projects meet the criteria under the capital costs pass-through mechanism, where those criteria are described on pages 19 through 21 of the incentive regulation settlement agreement.


And I'd also note that, in fact, to the extent that the projects are approved and that there's no material change to the projects, that the parties have already agreed that these would meet the criteria and be passed through into rates at the time that they come into service.


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, when you say "these", what are you referring to?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I'm referring to both the Parkway West project and the Parkway D Brantford-to-Kirkwall projects.


MR. SMITH:  Ms. George, you were asked questions by Mr. Rubenstein with respect to the updated budget figures.  Do you recall that?


MS. GEORGE:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Just, can you please tell me, how does where Union finds itself in the budgeting process today, in these applications, compare to where you typically find yourself in a typical leave-to-construct application?


MS. GEORGE:  We're at least as far along as we would normally be for these applications, and I think we're farther along in some elements.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And is that true with respect to both applications?


MS. GEORGE:  Yes, it is.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Isherwood, you were asked some questions by my friend Mr. Poch.  Do you recall that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And he asked you a question, by my notes, he asked you whether -- or suggested that these projects facilitate the movement of others from long-haul to short-haul.  Do you recall that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask this question:  Is it possible for Union to serve its north without these facilities and downstream facilities?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not in terms of shifting to short-haul it's not.


MR. SMITH:  And how about for other shippers?  Are they similarly constrained by a need for these facilities to be built for them to move off of the TCPL system?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, there's shippers like the A and E group today that have already shifted to short-haul back in 2006 and -7, and they actually will leave the system by 2016-2017 if they so choose.  We don't forecast that, but they have that option.


MR. SMITH:  And just so perhaps this is abundantly clear, but what happens if they leave and you're unable to?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  If they leave, again, there's fewer billing determinants, so we would have incremental costs on the Eastern Triangle.


MR. SMITH:  And by incremental costs, what --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Higher rates.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, sir.  Those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Hare has some questions.

Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  I have just a few short questions of clarification for Ms. George.


You mentioned that you've already selected your prime contractor.  Did you go to bid in order to select that contractor?


MS. GEORGE:  We did use a competitive sourcing process.  I should clarify, we have selected our prime contractor for the Parkway West and Parkway D builds.  We have not done so for Brantford-Kirkwall pipeline yet.


MS. HARE:  And if the Board does not approve the projects, are there penalty costs?


MS. GEORGE:  No, there are not.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I have questions in two areas.  One follow-up question regarding the allocation of the costs to rates and the different scenarios that some of the intervenors have put to you.


If only the LCU was needed, if it weren't doing the growth compressor, would the site be as large for Parkway West?  Would it be -- and would the costs be of the same magnitude, and why would that be, if so, why would that be?


MS. GEORGE:  So the site infrastructure costs would be of the same magnitude, and we would have bought the same size land because we do anticipate the future growth at Parkway, and land is very difficult to find in that area for this type of an application.  So the land would have been the same size.


The other infrastructure costs are things like connecting to our Dawn-to-Parkway system, which is required whether you build one or two compressors, building the pipeline header system and building some of the other auxiliary systems that are required in a new site.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So if you were not to do Parkway D at all, you're saying you would still have chosen as large -- purchased as large a site in anticipation of future growth, and all of the other site infrastructure projects would still be the same if you were just doing the loss of critical unit compressor?


MS. GEORGE:  Yes.  Everything that was listed under a $103 million is still required regardless.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.


And Mr. Birmingham, I'm going to ask you some questions that I think will draw upon your regulatory memory, if I may.


I'm trying to understand how --


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  You're assuming I have one, Madam Chair.


[Laughter]


MS. CHAPLIN:  Hopefully it's better than mine.


What I would like to understand from Union's perspective is how what you are proposing in this application with respect to the approval of the recovery of the costs of the infrastructure, how that compares with the way it would have worked historically when Union was on sort of more traditional annual cost of service.


So how would -- so say we were back in the annual cost-of-service days and Union had a leave-to-construct proceeding.  How would the -- what would the nexus be between that leave-to-construct proceeding and what was considered there be with what would happen in the rates proceeding, in your recollection?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I might actually be able to answer this one.  Typically what would happen is we would apply for leave-to-construct only, and assuming that the Board granted that leave-to-construct, that proceeding and that decision would be in advance of when the project would come into service, and we would then forecast that project coming into service as part of our test year when we went into rates.


So the timing would be such that we'd get leave-to-construct approval, and then bring that forward into our rates application for recovery in rates.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And in your recollection, in which proceeding -- or indeed was it in both -- that the Board examined the cost of alternatives, whether the most cost-effective option had been chosen and that sort of examination of the costs?  Would that have happened in the leave-to-construct or the cost of service, or both?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  It was primarily in the leave-to-construct application.  What the leave-to-construct application didn't necessarily deal with is how the costs were then allocated to rate classes and who paid for those costs.


So the Board would examine the overall economics in the leave-to-construct application, but then it was left to the rates application to deal with the allocation to customers.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And in the cost of service application, again, if the project was forecast for the test year, it would not yet be in service, so it would be built into rates on the basis of what the forecast cost was; correct?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  That's correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Am I -- do what would happen in the subsequent rate proceeding vis-à-vis the costs of that project, once the project had actually been executed and the final costs were known?  What would happen then?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  Two things, I guess.  One is it may have been brought into service partway during the initial test year.  And so there would be a rate impact from that.


The following rates application would then deal with the full-year impact.  And to the extent that there were any variances, they'd be dealt with at that point, in terms of cost allocation, and in fact, even prudence review.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And so how would you describe the difference, that framework?  What is the difference that you see in terms of regulatory treatment with what the company is requesting now?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  I think the difference is that we're asking -- because of the nature of these projects and even underneath the incentive regulation settlement agreement, certain projects that meet specific criteria, to deal with both a leave-to-construct and the rate recovery, including allocation to customers all at once.


So instead of two steps, where you have the leave-to-construct application approval and then rate recovery in a later year, we're going to put them both together.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And you've already been through one -- well, I guess indeed a couple of multi-year rate periods, and you would have undertaken capital projects during the terms of those rate frameworks.


When did those flow into rates?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  If it was a project that was done during an incentive regulation period, it would have been brought into rates at the time that we rebased under cost of service.


And by and large, Madam Chair, that is what we're proposing for most of our capital spending.  It's only with respect to certain particular projects that meet thresholds, in particular something that is greater than $50 million and generating more than a $5 million revenue requirement, that we're looking for this slightly different treatment.


And the treatment isn't different in terms of actually getting rate recovery; the treatment is different only with respect to when the timing would otherwise -- or the timing of that rate recovery would otherwise happen in an incentive regulation framework.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And your rate settlement proposal, I gather, sets out that with respect to the other types of projects that you're seeking that type of treatment for?


MR. BIRMINGHAM:  It does.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are the Panel's questions.  So this panel is excused with the Board's thanks.


MR. SMITH:  We'll just make a bit of room for the Enbridge folks.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, pardon me.  Just before the panel is introduced and sworn, perhaps I might just explain a particular document that we have for the Board, to assist.  It's a bit of a roadmap for this panel and future panels.  I'm not sure if it's been handed out to the Board.  It is headed "Witness panels - Enbridge" and it has the case numbers above that.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, we were given it.  Do you have some more copies, though?


MR. MILLAR:  I do, yes.  So we'll call that Exhibit K4.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "WITNESS PANELS – ENBRIDGE."


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, my purpose in Exhibit K4.3 was twofold.  First, as I've said, to give the Board something of a roadmap for Enbridge's witness panels; second, it's my aim with this particular panel to bring the questions involving introduction of the witnesses down to a real minimum and spend a few minutes on substantive questions.


So I think that this Exhibit K4.3 will assist the Board in seeing the -- first of all, the areas of evidentiary responsibility of this panel, both by issue number and by evidentiary references.


The Board will also be able to see the names of the witnesses and their titles.  Of course I will introduce them.  And as noted down at the bottom of Exhibit K4.3, the witness CVs are all available.


So with that in mind, I propose to have just a bare minimum of questions to introduce the witnesses, and then a few substantive questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Could the witnesses come forward to be sworn?

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION - PANEL 1


Malini Giridhar, Sworn 


Craig Fernandes, Sworn


Joel Denomy, Sworn


Nick Thalassinos, Sworn


Chris Moore, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  Now, again, Madam Chair, the names of the witnesses and their titles are on Exhibit K4.3.  Perhaps I will quickly introduce them for the panel so that everybody knows where each witness is seated.


I will start with Mr. Moore, who is furthest from me and closest to the reporter.  As indicated in the exhibit, he's director, asset renewal and improvement.  Next to Mr. Moore is Mr. Thalassinos, the chief engineer.  Next to him and in the middle of the panel is Craig Fernandes, senior manager, regulatory GTA project.  Then Malini Giridhar, vice-president, gas supply and business development.  And finally Joel Denomy, manager, gas supply and strategy.


Now, just very quickly, Mr. Fernandes, could I ask you to confirm on behalf of the panel that this panel is responsible for the areas of evidence identified on Exhibit K4.3?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes, we are.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And also on behalf of the panel, can you confirm that the pre-filed evidence in those areas, the answers to interrogatories, and the technical conference evidence, are adopted for the purpose of this proceeding?


MR. FERNANDES:  I do.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Mr. Fernandes, could you quickly give the Board an overview of the objectives of the GTA project?


MR. FERNANDES:  Well, the GTA project is multifaceted, and it is intended to achieve multiple objectives.  At the highest, simplest level it's about the safe and reliable delivery of gas to both our current and future customers.


MR. CASS:  Can you elaborate briefly on those objectives that you've referred to?


MR. FERNANDES:  The objective is to ensure reliability throughout the entire supply chain.  When we look at that, we look at upstream, and what the proposed facilities will do is allow increased diversity of supply by access to new basins that are not available today.  And it also allows us to enhance the reliability of our gas-supply portfolio by shifting to the usage of firm transport contracts.


When we look at how we bring gas into our system, the entry points into the system, it will increase the diversity of those entry points into the GTA and alleviate the company's single biggest risk in terms of consequences, which is the over-reliance on the Parkway gate station today.


When we look at the distribution system, the proposed facilities will help eliminate the east-west bottleneck in the system and add a second feed into the eastern portion of the downtown core, which is currently reliant on over four-decade-old single line.


The proposed facilities will also allow for the lowering of pressures on our oldest high-stress lines within the GTA, increasing the safety and reliability of key supply lines.


MR. CASS:  Right.  And Mr. -- sorry.


MR. FERNANDES:  In addition to all of that, the project also provides the capacity required to meet the forecast's peak load growth.  So it does allow reliability for both our current and future customers.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Fernandes.


Can you relate the proposed facilities and operational benefits to the objectives that you've been talking about?


MR. FERNANDES:  I can.  If I could take a moment, and I'll walk through with the panels.


I do believe there was a handout that was distributed.  Hopefully everyone has that.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I think this was part of the  pre-filed evidence, but we can mark it if that assists.  It's K4.4, and it's the map that you see on your screen now.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.4:  MAP


MR. FERNANDES:  So I'd like to group the facilities that are proposed into three logical groupings.  The first one I'm going start is actually on page 2 of your handout, and it has to do with the facilities in or around Parkway West.


So Parkway West -- the proposed Parkway West gate station, along with the 315-metre MPS 36-inch tie-in and the Parkway bypass regulation station, are all associated together.  And they are shown on this line.


What these facilities together allow is an alternative feed of supply into our system, as opposed to the existing Parkway station.  Through Parkway West gate station the 315-metre tie-in would feed into our existing NPS 36 Parkway North, which is the purple -- existing NPS 36 Parkway North, and that would allow on the diagram gas to be supplied going to your left, which is actually almost north.


In addition, gas could flow south on that line through the proposed Parkway bypass regulation station into our MSL  pipeline, which is also an NPS 36, and the purpose of the regulation facility would be because the two pipelines coming from the existing Parkway station operate at different pressures.  This provides a complete alternative path into our distribution system downstream of Parkway.


If we move back to the first page, which is a much larger scale, the next grouping of facilities would be our NPS 42 segment A, along with an upgrade at Albion station.


The purpose of these facilities in the application is to allow for 800 teraJoules a day of supply to come into our distribution system from sources upstream of the Parkway bottleneck.


In conjunction with segment B, which we'll talk about in a minute, it also provides capacity required to lower the pressure on the oldest high-stress lines and allows for the gas supply shift, allowing us to move to firm contracting on short-haul.  And beyond our distribution needs, this also has a unique shared usage arrangement for our regional transmission needs.


If we go to segment B, it initiates at our Keele CNR station that's existing, moves from west to east til it intersects with our Don Valley line.  You can see there's our proposed Buttonville station.  It then parallels our Don Valley line down to Sheppard Avenue, where it would tie into an existing NPS 36.  The gas flow could come down on that existing NPS 36 to Jonesville, an existing station that has a proposed expansion.


Now, the reason why the stations and the line are associated is again, the Parkway beltline, which would be the source for segment B, would operate at a different pressure from our Don Valley line, so it requires regulation facilities to control the pressures between the two lines.


What this does is give us a continuous NPS 36-inch line all the way down to Eglinton from Parkway, and the regulation stations can act as sources of supply into the Don Valley line.


segment B alleviates the east-west bottleneck on the backbone of our system, or the extra-high-pressure grid, provides the necessary supply to serve our forecast growth, and in conjunction with segment A provides the capacity required to lower the pressures on our oldest high-stress lines.


In addition, segment B is required for us to have the gas supply shift and move toward short-haul firm contracting.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Fernandes.


Now, you talked about a number of operational benefits.  Are there other benefits of the proposed project?


MR. FERNANDES:  The benefits associated with reliability, diversity, and flexibility are the primary purpose of the GTA project application.  In addition, though, there are several other benefits.  The short-haul savings in order to meet what is primarily a seasonal peaking utility is important.  In addition, there's additional distribution revenue through the growth.  There's also fuel savings for consumers.


When we -- we did not include it in our economic feasibility stage 2 analysis, but in comparison to the alternatives that consumers would enjoy, it's important to note that there's significant economies today with natural gas, as opposed to other sources of heating.


MR. CASS:  Right.  One last question, this time for Ms. Giridhar.  Mr. Fernandes referred to the transmission context of the proposed project; can you elaborate a little on that, please?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Certainly.  So segment A of the GTA project, in conjunction with downstream facilities which TransCanada proposes to build, allow for an increase in transmission capacity and access to short-haul supply from Dawn and Niagara.


There is currently no market access through this path because TransCanada's Parkway-Maple line is constrained.  However, the market does need access, and I can allude to at least three reasons why.


First is that consumers in Ontario and Quebec are seeking market access to short-haul.


Mr. Cabana will be part of a joint panel to talk about the needs in Quebec, including feedstock companies that now want to relocate in Canada and seek access to low-cost natural gas.  And Quebec has to compete south of the border with places where this gas is in fact being produced.


The same is true of Ontario.  We note that our industrial customers are seeking market access to provide competitive energy for them.  We know that power plants want to get to Dawn.  We know that the utilities want to get to Dawn.


In terms of Enbridge, we also have a desire to seek market access for our Ottawa market.  Just like the GTA, we have a significant amount of seasonal demand that's met through discretionary services that now need to be firmed up.  And we believe that short-haul capacity is optimal for meeting seasonal demand, rather than long-haul capacity from Alberta, which will lie empty for much of the year.


Finally, irrespective of whether Alberta gas or western Canadian supply is seeking higher-priced international markets versus landlocked natural gas markets in the east, right next to emerging supply basins, we also have to contemplate the connectivity to western Canada.


So TransCanada's Energy East project is planning to take out the largest, the best and the newest line from western Canada, their NPS 42, for conversion to oil.


What this means is the next largest line, TransCanada's NPS 36 line, will need to be remediated in order to meet market needs in the east, absent transmission capacity created by this project.


That would require remediation along 65 percent of the segments of a 1,500-kilometre section of pipe.


On the other hand, from a business perspective, we are looking at 27 kilometres of pipe from segment A that can provide market access.


In light of all of these factors, TransCanada, Enbridge, Union and Gaz Métro have recently agreed on a term sheet that provides for market access under reasonable terms and conditions for shippers, and ensures cost recovery for TransCanada.  This will be going to the NEB for approval.


However, we must remember that this design for segment A of the GTA project provides for rational infrastructure planning for transmission purposes.  It avoids duplicative facilities that would otherwise be required if market access were to be provided independent of this project.  It reduces environmental footprint, reduces impacts in communities that live along these lines, and to that extent, there's significant benefits from optimizing the GTA project for market access, in addition to building for distribution needs.  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  That's the examination-in-chief of the panel.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Mr. DeRose, I have CME and CCC as the first to cross-examine this panel; is that...


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I have you down for an hour.

Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  That's my goal.  Good morning, panel.  For those of you that I haven't met, my name is Vince DeRose, and I act as counsel for CME.  Today I will also be asking some questions on behalf of CCC.


What I'd like to start with is just for the benefit of the panel, just to sort of start at the 10,000-foot level, and then we'll drill down a little bit.


First of all, if I can turn to your segment A, first of all, as indicated in your direct, segment A is being built for both your distribution needs and to fulfill a transmission capacity; is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And as I understand it, your distribution needs for the GTA arising out of segment A, you have allocated or identified 800 tJs a day; correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And early in the evidence, at the time when -- and I realize the world has changed, but there was a point in time when you had intended to build this in conjunction with TCPL; correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And at that time, you were going to take 800,000 tJs and TransCanada Pipeline was going to have access or exclusive access to the remainder transportation on the pipeline, which I understood to be 1,200 tJs a day; is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct, at an NPS 42 pipe size.


MR. DeROSE:  And you're proposing that pipe -- that size in this -- and my chair just suddenly went down so I look much smaller now.


[Laughter]


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.  We have an NPS 42 in our application today.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so is it fair for me to conclude that the capacity on segment A is the 1,200 plus 800, is about 2,000 tJs a day?


MR. FERNANDES:  It is 2,000.  We've stated that in Exhibit A3, schedule 9.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And in terms of -- you filed a September 11th, 2013 update.  This is Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 10, page 1 of 3; correct?  You have that?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And in there, you report on an open season that you have -- that closed on September 6, and as I understand it, the total capacity requested, you say, was over 930 tJs.  Does that mean that it was just over, that it's approximately 930?


MR. FERNANDES:  Technically, it was just under 940.  So I would state it's between 930 and 940.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And it says: "including an allocation of 170 tJ for the Enbridge EDA."


Now, do I understand right that because you're conducting the open season, you wouldn't bid into it yourself?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And so the transaction -- is it fair to say that the transmission capacity, at least pursuant to the open season, is the -- 930 or between 930 and 940, that includes your -- so it would have been 930 or 940 minus the 170 which you allocated to yourself?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I --


MR. DeROSE:  What did you receive -- or maybe put it this way.  How much was actually bid in?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  What was bid in was the difference between the two numbers.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And that transmission capacity is only going to become useful or used and useful if and when TransCanada builds the Kings North; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  Under the term sheet, the expectation is that TransCanada would build these facilities for 2015.


Obviously, that would be subject to NEB approval of the settlement agreement and the ensuing tolls, as well as the facilities that they will be required to build.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Could I have you pull up the term sheet?  And I apologize, I don't have the exhibit number of the term sheet on my copy here.


Mr. Millar, perhaps you could help me with that?


Sorry, I'm told it's K1.1.  Does that make it 2.1?


MR. MILLAR:  Don't ask.


[Laughter]


MR. DeROSE:  Okay, well we're going to call it K1.1.  Everyone knows what the term sheet is.  And it's page 6 of the term sheet.  Could I take you there, panel?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  And I'd like to have you explain the fourth bullet.  So it starts with:

"Enbridge will continue with its open season."


Just stopping there, that's the open season that you were giving evidence on that you received the 930 or the 930 minus the 170 that you've allocated yourself?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And it says that you will continue with that open season, but you will not award any transmission capacity on segment A until one of the following three conditions is fulfilled.  Condition number one is if the settlement is approved by the NEB.


So just stopping there, if the settlement is approved by the NEB, will you then award transmission capacity, pursuant to the open season?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  The second condition is that you develop a mutually accepted alternative solution that is adopted by the parties and approved by the NEB.  I take it that that is addressing a scenario whereby the NEB doesn't approve it initially but you go away and you come up with an alternative that you can get approved?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  The assumption there is that the NEB in its reasons for decisions would indicate where the settlement fell short, and we are contemplating a situation where the three LDCs and TransCanada can cooperate and work together to address the NEB's concerns and file an alternative settlement.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then the final solution is where the NEB delivers an alternative ruling on market access and all of the parties agree that the settlement should therefore be terminated.  Is that --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.  So that is the situation where the parties are unable to improve on the first settlement agreement in a manner that addresses the NEB's concerns, and the parties therefore go back to the NEB and seek clarification on the terms and conditions for market access.  And in that situation, if the NEB delivered a decision that any of the parties could not agree with, then this would be terminated.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, you would only award transmission capacity if you had confidence that the NEB or -- well, you would only award transmission capacity if you had confidence that TCPL was going build King North; is that not fair?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think that is certainly well-captured in the first two bullets, and likely in the third.  So we believe that the -- it does make sense for TransCanada to be the party building.


MR. DeROSE:  Can we agree that no one wants to buy transmission that ends at Albion?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And then it's the next paragraph that I'd like you to explain a little bit more carefully to the Board:

"If the settlement agreement contemplated by this terms sheet is approved, TransCanada will access all of the transmission capacity on segment A through an assignment from Union and GMI and/or through an open season in a manner consistent with the OEB's STAR requirements."


Now, first of all, your current open season that you've just finished, parties bid into that, other than Union and GMI; is that correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Right.  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And is this paragraph contemplating that TransCanada would take an assignment of all of the transmission capacity that you would award under your open season?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  This is contemplating the fact that Union and Gaz Métro are willing to assign the capacity that they have bid for and will subsequently be awarded subject to the NEB approving the settlement agreement, that they would be willing to assign that over to TransCanada, such that TransCanada can complete the path and provide service.


It is also contemplating that other -- the other parties that have bid into this open season may wish to do the same thing, because at the end of the day it's TransCanada that's building the downstream facilities, and most people like to have a seamless transmission service.


It is allowing, however, for the fact that those parties may choose to keep their assignments.  It is also allowing for the fact that Enbridge Gas Distribution cannot assign its capacity because it does not have a contract with itself for its EDA customers, so likely we would follow it up with a subsequent open season whereby TransCanada could take the remaining capacity in a manner that's compliant with STAR.


MR. DeROSE:  So is there a scenario whereby you will award capacity to a third party, not Union or GMI, that will just maintain their capacity to Albion, and then you'll have another open season where you would do it for yourself?  Or at that point would you just -- would TransCanada not conduct an open season and everyone can re-bid into it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So I think we need to distinguish between open seasons that TransCanada will conduct and open seasons that Enbridge Gas Distribution will conduct.


Enbridge Gas Distribution's open seasons will be with respect to capacity on segment A.  In the scenario you're contemplating, if the other parties that receive capacity do not wish to assign the capacity over to TransCanada, what it means is that they would be giving TransCanada capacity at Albion, that TransCanada could then transport on its piece of pipe to wherever they want to take it to.


So it doesn't really have implications for the downstream facilities or anything of that sort.  It's just, the question is, at what point do parties retain title to their gas and at what point does the transporter transporting it for them?


The open season that TransCanada will conduct will be for service on all of their paths for 2016, and that will be conducted in an open and non-discriminatory manner.  So other parties that want access to short-haul can bid into the TransCanada open season, at which point TransCanada will likely need more capacity on segment A.  We will conduct an open season, and that would give TransCanada the opportunity to pick up whatever capacity they need in order to serve their shippers.


MR. DeROSE:  And under the terms sheet, is it contemplated or do you expect that the final settlement agreement will grant TCPL access to all of the transmission capacity in excess of 800 tJs, or are they only going to be granted transmission -- or access or entitlement to the open season, which is the 930 tJs?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Could you repeat that question, please?


MR. DeROSE:  Under the terms sheet, is it contemplated that Enbridge will retain the 800 tJs you need for distribution?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And everything in excess will be assigned or granted to TCPL?  Or is it only the amount that you have identified in your recent open season?  So is it the 1,200 tJs a day that is going to be contracted to TCPL, or is it the 930?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It's up to 1,200.  We're allowing for a process that allows TransCanada to take all of the transmission capacity on segment A, subject only to the fact that parties other than Union and Gaz Métro who might get awarded capacity might choose not to assign their capacities to TransCanada.


So essentially, TransCanada is the downstream operator.  We expect that it would seek and obtain all the transmission capacity on the pipeline.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in terms of -- under the terms sheet, it contemplates that you will not assign any capacity until the terms sheet is approved.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Award.


MR. DeROSE:  Awarded.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Do you intend to award that capacity if the terms sheet is approved but before TransCanada is granted leave to construct the King's North, just in terms of the timing?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Our expectation is that if the settlement is approved by the NEB we would proceed to award capacity.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And is it your intention to construct segment A if this Board grants leave to construct to begin construction of segment A prior to NEB approval of the terms sheet or leave to construct King North?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It is our view that the segment A as proposed as an NPS 42 is appropriate.  It can be justified for distribution purposes, and it is optimal to meet both distribution and transmission purposes.


The facilities are required for 2015, and we must proceed to start construction immediately after we receive a decision from the OEB.


MR. DeROSE:  And -- okay.  We'll come back to that.


Now -- well, actually, I'm going to go out of my order here.  So you require 800 tJs, correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  TransCanada, in its evidence -- and I don't think we need to pull it up.  I think you'll be familiar with it -- has suggested in its evidence that you could obtain or access 800 tJs with a pipeline smaller than NPS 42, correct?  Are you familiar with that assertion?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes, we are.


MR. DeROSE:  And do you agree that if we put aside diversity of supply throughout the entire province, if your only goal was to obtain 800 tJs a day for distribution, you would not require an NPS 42 pipe?


MR. FERNANDES:  Our assertion is that an NPS 42 pipe is required.  There's a trade-off between pressure and pipe size, to get the flow requirements.


So an NPS 42 can work for distribution only.


MR. DeROSE:  I have no doubt that it could work.  The question is more:  You could bring 800 tJs a day into your system for distribution needs with a smaller pipeline; correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  Depending on the pressure requirements, that is true.


MR. DeROSE:  And when I look at your map at K4.4, all of the pipelines are described as NPS 36 or smaller?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Do you have any pipelines in your distribution system that are NPS 42, for the purpose of distribution?


MR. FERNANDES:  Not extra-high pressure.  Not this type of line.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And now in terms of the costs of the segment A and segment B, just to back up a little bit, as I understand it, the capital costs or the estimated capital costs of both segment A and segment B are 686 and a half million?  I think that that's the latest update.


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And could you separate that 686 and a half million, how much of that is segment A and how much of that is segment B?


MR. FERNANDES:  I wasn't expecting cost.  I'm actually not sure if I have that with me today.


MR. DeROSE:  I'd be happy to have that by way of undertaking.  It's...


MR. FERNANDES:  Well, I do believe it is in the evidence, so I'm sure we can come back after a break or -- I'm expecting this panel will be up and we'll be able to provide that.


MR. DeROSE:  That would be fine.


When you originally contemplated co-owning the pipeline with TransCanada, as I understand it, TransCanada was going to pay for 60 percent and you were going pay for 40 percent of the pipeline?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And when I just do the math, the math to me is that that is based on the fact that 1,200 tJs a day is 60 percent of 2,000 and 800 is 40 percent?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  So you were going to split the costs between TransCanada's transmission system and your distribution needs based on usage, or potential usage?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  If you build the 42-inch, the NPS 42 pipeline, and TCPL does not obtain leave, so Kings North is never built, are you intending on seeking cost recovery for the entire segment A project from your distribution customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, we are.  We should go back to why we believe market access is inevitable for the markets in Ontario and Quebec.  I kind of spoke to that in my examination-in-chief.


We have one of the most prolific supply basins emerging in our backyard.  And we have a western Canadian supply basin also with significant resources, but seeking markets elsewhere.


Western Canadian gas has the opportunity to seek markets in Asia that currently pay oil-linked prices for natural gas.  Even if oil-linked prices don't prevail, they will be significantly higher than landlocked prices for a market that's situated right next to the most prolific supply basin in North America, which is the Marcellus.


To suggest that any difficulties that TransCanada might have in the ensuing six to eight months to receive approval for a term sheet that we believe provides for market access under reasonable terms for that market and reasonable assurance of cost recovery for TransCanada would end up being an enduring situation for eastern Canada, I believe is highly implausible.


We know that the Energy East project is strategically important for the country.  To the extent that TransCanada's NPS 42 is taken out for oil service and this project is not built, we believe there will be significant costs incurred in order to remediate their next biggest pipeline, their NPS 36, which is a 1,500-kilometre section of pipeline.  65 percent of the segments of that pipeline need remediation, based on TransCanada's response to an Enbridge interrogatory.


In contrast, we are looking at potentially an upsizing of an NPS 36 pipeline, which is what our original application was, by six inches to an NPS 42.  And the cost consequences of that are approximately $60 million, or maybe 6 to $7 million a year in revenue requirement.


Pipeline infrastructure is difficult to put in the ground in a place like Toronto.  The notion that it could be put in subsequently, following NEB approval for market access in the event that it occurs a year or two down the road, we do not believe that's rational expansion of transmission infrastructure.


We really need to think about what the alternative is in conjunction with the Energy East project going forward.


MR. DeROSE:  Ms. Giridhar, just if I can just stop you there for a moment, so is it your -- did you say it was $60 million difference between the 36 and the 42 NPS, approximately?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Approximately.


MR. FERNANDES:  That's approximately.  In the $55 million range.


MR. DeROSE:  And I take it the gist of your answer is that it's highly implausible that TransCanada won't build the Kings North and won't get leave?


MR. FERNANDES:  It's required for the market.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It's required for the market.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So is it so implausible that you're willing to take on the risk of that 60 million and not pass it on to ratepayers if they don't do it?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe it's appropriate to suggest that Enbridge should suggest that they take on the rink.


This is infrastructure that is being created to benefit the market.  This is being done in conjunction or in compliance with the Board's statutory objectives, to ensure the rational expansion of distribution and -- and transmission infrastructure in Ontario.


This is, in our view, in the interest of distribution and transmission ratepayers in Ontario.


MR. DeROSE:  With respect to the costs of the transmission portion of the line compared to the distribution portion of the line, have you negotiated any type of transportation contracts with TCPL, or any type of agreement with respect to their -- the manner in which they will contribute or financially backstop the costs of segment A?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So our open season materials lay out our contract, proposed contract, as well as the precedent agreements and the financial backstopping arrangements.


They will be brought forward to the Board for approval in compliance with STAR, and our expectation is TransCanada will be contracting pursuant to those agreements.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so even though TransCanada has not -- TransCanada did not submit anything to the open season, there's nothing binding on TransCanada arising out of your open season; correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is nothing -- could you repeat that?


MR. DeROSE:  The precedent agreements and financial backstopping agreements that you've just referred to, those are, as of today, not binding on TransCanada Pipeline?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  The capacity is going to be awarded pursuant to an NEB decision, as you might recall.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And would you be able to -- I don't believe that those agreements have been filed in this proceeding for this Board, have they?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  They are part of the evidentiary record.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In this proceeding.


MR. DeROSE:  And with respect to the -- but those only become effective and the financial backstopping agreements only become effective if and when you award that capacity?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And is it your intention to award that capacity before leave to -- I may have asked this, but I just want to make sure we're clear on this.


If the term sheet is approved, are you going to award the capacity and have the financial backstopping agreements and the precedent agreements become enforceable prior to TransCanada's leave-to-construct application?  Because they are going to have to bring two applications.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That would -- I can certainly see that as being one of the outcomes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But you can't say for sure to this panel.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, I don't know what the timing of their leave-to-construct application would be.  If it -- if they were prepared to proceed the day after the NEB approved the tolls coming from the settlement agreement, it's quite possible that the amount of time we take to negotiate those contracts, you know...


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now I'd like to just talk about a different scenario, not one where they don't build the pipeline, but let's assume that there is a one-year delay between your building of segment A and -- or let's say a two-year delay, just to make it a little bit more -- the implications a little more concrete.


So if segment A is built so it's used and useful, when would the earliest that it be operational, according to your time line, if there are no delays at all?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  November 1, 2015.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So if we assume that you're up and running on November 1, 2015, and due to a variety of delays TransCanada's King North is not up and running until November 1, 2017, in that two-year interim period will you be collecting any type of revenue from transmission customers?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think it depends.  So to the extent that capacity has been awarded, because the NEB has approved the settlement agreement, then, pursuant to the negotiations that we would then have with the downstream customers, it is possible that we may require them to start taking service based on a negotiated date as early as November 1, 2015.


If any delays occur in construction, for instance, it is possible that they may end up having to pay their tariff -- their tolls pursuant to that agreement.  So that is one possibility.


But in the event that TransCanada does not receive NEB approval, and the in-service date is 2017 for the downstream facilities, it was also possible that those costs would be borne by our distribution customers for that two-year period.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And you can't tell the Board today which of those two options you would try and enforce or which would crystallize?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think a necessary condition for that first option to crystallize would be NEB approval of the settlement agreement in a timely fashion.


MR. DeROSE:  And so in that two-year period, where your distribution customers are paying in part for the construction of the full pipeline that is intended to be used both for transmission and distribution, at the end of that two years would there be any type of retroactive collection from those that are using transmission, or there would not be?  They would just start paying their tolls at the time that they start to use the transmission system.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.  They would start paying their tolls.  You know, I might just want to bring you back at a higher level --


MR. DeROSE:  I only have an hour, Ms. Giridhar, I'm sorry.  I mean, if you feel that it's necessary, but if it's going to be just sort of background...


MR. CASS:  Well, the problem, Madam Chair, is it's more than just background, this issue about -- that Mr. DeRose is raising about different scenarios and who pays costs in those scenarios.  It is a broad issue of public policy.


So it is very hard to answer with narrow, crisp, one-word answers.  That is the difficulty when you get into this broad issue of the public policy of who pays for something like that.


MS. CHAPLIN:  That's fine, Mr. Cass, but we don't need the witnesses to repeat testimony they've already given.


Go ahead, Mr. DeRose.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.  Perhaps by way of undertaking, would you be able to do this?  Would you be able to show the Board through an undertaking what the rate impact would be on distribution customers if the King Line is not built, so if the entire capital cost were to be borne by your distribution customers.  And you can do it on a year basis or a two-year basis.  I leave it up to you, the time period.


But scenario number one is that the segment A is only used for distribution.  What is the rate impact on your distribution customers, compared to the scenario where you have -- segment A is built and it is used consistent with the numbers in your recent open season and your precedent agreements and financial backstopping agreements, so that you can see what would the rate impact then be on your distribution customers.


MR. FERNANDES:  So the latter comparator that you're speaking to is already on the record.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.


MR. FERNANDES:  And we have that in A-3-9.


MR. DeROSE:  And is that -- sorry.  A-3-9?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  So that's in the recent --


MR. FERNANDES:  Our update when we had the NPS 42, it was included at the end of Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 9.


MR. DeROSE:  And, I'm sorry, was that based on your new open season?  Because that amount was only disclosed to us last week.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The open season does not have a material impact on that comparison, because the transmission rate would be derived to take 60 percent of the revenue requirement of segment A divided by the billing determinants.


So whether it's 1,200 tJs or 900 tJs, the transmission impact is exactly the same, so it's not a factor in that calculation.  The rate would be higher if you had fewer volumes.


MR. DeROSE:  So just for my simple math, is it a 60-40 split between transmission and distribution, that if you have no transmission --


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.  So the 60 percent goes to the transmission, but it goes regardless of what volume is taken up on transmission.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. DeRose, did you still require the first part of the undertaking?


MR. DeROSE:  No.  If it's -- I can just work with the 60-40.  Unless the Board feels that it's necessary to have the actual numbers pursuant to the open season, I'm happy with 60-40.


Just shifting gears a little bit, do you currently have -- first of all, you are not seeking pre-approval, as Union is, correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And so your costs and the prudence of that will be brought forth in a forthcoming application, correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We are seeking cost recovery through the incentive regulation proceeding and the establishment of a variance account to capture variances.


MR. DeROSE:  However, in terms of, if there were significant cost overruns or significant under -- if it came in cheaper than you anticipated, so either way --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  -- while it would be captured in the deferral account, you would still need those deferral accounts cleared, correct?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And the prudence or appropriateness of either the cost overruns, by way of example, would be subject to Board scrutiny at that time.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And in terms of the costs actually flowing into your rates, into your distribution rates, that would not occur, even though it's being captured in the deferral account for the purpose of accounting, it is not going to flow into distribution rates until segment A is operational.  So it would be November the 1st, 2015, if on time?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct, when all the facilities are operational.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Is the build of your segment A or segment B in any way conditional upon -- or the build by Union of either Parkway West or Compressor D?


MR. FERNANDES:  This has been answered in the interrogatories, but --


MR. DeROSE:  I appreciate that.  But just for the purpose of the Board Panel...


MR. FERNANDES:  The facilities that I went through in the examination-in-chief, clearly, in order to have our Parkway West gate station, it requires a Parkway facility.  In addition, in order to have our segment A, it initiates at Parkway West as well, and that's a supply source for that portion of the facilities.  So there is a dependency on having facilities upstream.


Segment B is not tied directly to any of the facilities.  But as we stated, our project objectives can't be met in isolation.  So there would be substantial change in the objectives we were able to meet.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And so to the extent that the Board does not grant leave to Union, that would have a direct impact on your ability to build segment A and B.


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  In terms of if segment A and segment B, for whatever reason, are delayed, and so they are not operational as of November 2015, have you looked at alternatives for supply, for your supply needs in the winter -- I guess fall of 2015, winter of 2016?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  That would be something we'd have to, obviously, monitor and make decisions on.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But as of today, you have not considered that or not looked at those alternatives?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Why not?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  To the extent that some of the contracts that we have recently firmed up or are planning to firm up on the TransCanada system are firm contracts, they do come with renewal rights.  They also come with termination rights.  So it does give us flexibility to either retain those contracts past 2015 -- some of these contracts, we are obviously planning to terminate, because our seasonal needs are better met by short-haul than long-haul on TransCanada.


So we're not necessarily without a supply option if the project facilities are delayed, but we would not proceed to make commitments at this point in time for December of 2015 or, you know -- or early 2016, without a better understanding of whether the project facilities will be delayed or not.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  We believe we have sufficient time.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And in terms of -- first of all, you are confident that you have enough contract renewal on short-term -- and by short-term, I would be looking at one-year or two-year periods -- that you could manage that if you ran into delays that were unavoidable?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, we do have, from TransCanada and the term sheet, an assurance that they would make sure that there's enough supply available to meet our demands until 2016, from the perspective of the Energy East project.


To the extent that we have to firm up contracts that we were planning to displace, then that's an option that would be available to us.


But this is certainly something that we will be monitoring and assessing and making sure we understand what our options are over the next 18 months or so.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


Now, I'm going to turn to some sort of a number of quick snapper questions to finish this off.


In terms of segment B, you have in your evidence talked about that part of the GTA reinforcement project is required to supply the Portlands Energy Centre; correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  The entire high-pressure backbone of the network is utilized to supply, including the Portlands Energy Centre.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the Portlands Energy Centre or their facilities were approved and constructed in approximately 2006, 2007?


MR. FERNANDES:  I believe they went in service in late 2008.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And can you explain why, at the time that they were being built -- it's not that long ago 

-- that having a larger capacity was not considered at that time?


MR. FERNANDES:  Can you clarify "larger capacity"?  Than what the requirement was for Portland, or --?


MR. DeROSE:  I can perhaps put it this way.  You have the Don Valley portion of segment B; correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  There's a portion that twins our Don Valley line.  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And it runs approximately from Buttonville?


MR. FERNANDES:  Buttonville is the station so just south of what would be commonly referred to as the 407 corridor, down to approximately Sheppard Avenue.


MR. DeROSE:  And when the pipeline facilities were approved and constructed in the 2006, 2007 period --


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Well, let me rephrase it.


It appears now that one of the pieces of your evidence suggests that this needs reinforcement, that the current facilities are not sufficient to serve your needs.  And this isn't part of your infrastructure that has been there for 10 or 20 years; it's something that has been there for about six years.


And so the question is:  Why are we now reinforcing something that is relatively -- not reinforcing, but providing additional capacity for a construction and facilities project that was approved and constructed approximately six years ago, seven years ago?


MR. FERNANDES:  So the answer is that the Portlands project was specific to Portlands as an electrical generator.  And the requirement then was to replace the lost capacity on the system in order to ensure that the other ratepayers were not impacted by them coming on the system.


So Portlands paid a substantial contribution in aid of construction for those facilities.  So it would have been inappropriate for to us build more capacity than what Portlands required, because they were substantially paying for that capacity.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well --


MR. DeROSE:  But part of this -- part of the current project before the Board, one of your justifications is that you need to maintain adequate inlet pressures at station B to supply Portlands.


MR. FERNANDES:  We need to maintain adequate pressures to serve the needs of all of our customers, not just Portlands.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So is it your position that Portlands and what you constructed in 2007, 2006 don't have an impact or don't -- aren't one of the drivers for your need for further reinforcement in this application?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  So, Mr. DeRose, I think we should clarify that when we seek contributions from our large industrial or power generation customers, the notion there is that they're paying for capacity that they're taking away from the system.  We have no requirement for them to pay for future growth of other customers being added on the system.


The reality is that the addition of customers since that time has created additional constraints on infrastructure that's jointly used by all of our customers, including Portlands.  So the suggestion that somehow Portlands should pay for the capacity required to meet the needs of other customers doesn't really, you know, ring true for us.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Can I take you to CCC Interrogatory No. 1?  It's actually table 2 at Exhibit -- and it's I.A1.EGD.CCC.1.


And perhaps while -- okay.  And if we can just take you to table 2, which shows the historic and forecast customer growth, first of all, are you able to just sort of at a very high level, in a few sentence, describe to the Board your methodology for calculating customer forecasts for 2014 and beyond?


MR. FERNANDES:  That would actually be a question for panel 2.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Okay.  So with respect to customer additions and forecasts, that's all panel 2?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.


And what about declining average use?  Is that panel 2 as well, then?


MR. FERNANDES:  Customer additions and the forecasts of growth in load would be on panel 2.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Those are all of our questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you very much.  Thank you, panel.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Brett, I believe?


MR. SHRYBMAN:  Madam Chair, might I interrupt just for a second, to ask your permission to move the 20 minutes I have noted for this panel and the one that will address issue A4 to TCPL, with respect to which I only have 10 minutes indicated for cross-examination?


And that's because of the fundamental change in the character of the positions of the parties that followed the negotiation of the terms sheet with respect to the Mainline and the security and reliability of supply issues that we are concerned about in that respect.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So Mr. Shrybman, if I understand you correctly, you will have no questions for any of the Enbridge panels, but you'll have questions for the TCPL witness on the joint panel?


MR. SHRYBMAN:  That's correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Sorry, Mr. Brett?


MR. BRETT:  Just, Madam Chair, subject to your consent, Mr. Elson has agreed to step forward, and I would like to step back behind him for purposes of the order.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  All right, Mr. Elson.  So I have you for two hours?


MR. ELSON:  Yes, thank you.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  So we will rise today at about one o'clock, so whenever a convenient time...


MR. ELSON:  And my timing between this and the next panel may get rejigged, depending on where -- how far I can get on load growth with this panel.  I understand that Mr. Fernandes can answer sort of high-level questions, but when I get into more detailed questions I think I'm going to get bumped over to panel 2, so I might have some rejigging in my time estimates.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  So good afternoon, panel.  My name is Kent Elson.  I am counsel for Environmental Defence.  And before I lay out my roadmap here, I just have a quick question about the examination-in-chief.


Did you intend to raise any new points in your examination in-chief that aren't in the evidence?


MR. FERNANDES:  It was not our intention.


MR. ELSON:  I guess I should say, did you raise any new evidence?


MR. FERNANDES:  I believe everything that we stated was currently on the record.


MR. ELSON:  And did you intend to prioritize or reprioritize or put different emphasis on the various purposes of the project, as compared to what you have in the evidence?


MR. FERNANDES:  Not at all.  Actually, I think I can point you to Exhibit E, tab 1, Schedule 1.  I believe it's paragraph 16.  But we stated very specifically from our very first application that the diversity, flexibility, and reliability aspects of the project are the primary purpose of the application, and then the --


MR. ELSON:  I'm not saying that you did.  I just wanted to confirm that you didn't, that you were not intending to.


MR. FERNANDES:  That's right.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you.


So I'd like to ask you questions in four general areas, so my first area will be just a couple questions on the current peak demand and load profile in the GTA area.  Then I'll ask some high-level questions about Enbridge's load forecast.  The remainder of my questioning, I think, will be bumped to panel 2, but we'll see how far I can get today.  And then I have some questions about project economics, and about, lastly, the pressure issue, the SMYS pressure issue.


So to begin, I'd like to refer to Environmental Defence's cross-examination document book.  And I believe the witness panel has a copy, and that I have provided copies for the Board Panel as well.  Are they on the dais there?


MR. MILLAR:  They're not, but I'll bring them up.  It's Exhibit K4.5.

EXHIBIT NO. K4.5:  CROSS-EXAMINATION DOCUMENT BOOK OF ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And this will be the document book that we will be using for panel 2, so I would ask if you could hold on to it, and for the witness panel, if I could take copies back so that I can give it to the next witness panel.


So as the basis for my questions regarding the load forecast, first I'd like to get a picture of the current load profile and the peak demand in the GTA area.


So I'd ask if you could please turn to tab 1 of Environmental Defence's cross-examination document book.  This tab contains a chart showing the hourly gas demand in the GTA area based on the data provided to us in response to Environmental Defence Interrogatory No. 10 to Enbridge.  I provided this chart and the underlying Excel spreadsheet to your counsel, and my understanding is that you don't have any concerns with how it was created, but I will ask you on the record, would you agree that this is an accurate depiction of the data in ED IR 10?


MR. FERNANDES:  I believe it's an accurate prediction of actual flows on the system for those dates.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.


And I will just go through the table to explain it.  The red line at the top of the chart is at 114.5 tJ per hour.  And this represents the point at which the system will fall below minimum system pressures; is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  I haven't done the conversion, but I believe you're correct.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And the blue line represents the actual hourly demand for this period; is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  I believe the data that you've charted was the actual flows on the system.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And the black line at 27.9 tJ per hour represents the average hourly demand.


MR. FERNANDES:  I'm assuming you've done the math correctly.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Looking at this chart, would you agree, of course, that the demand for gas is extremely peaky?


MR. FERNANDES:  I believe that's part of our evidence, that we do have a seasonal peaking demand in our franchise.


MR. ELSON:  Of course.  And you'd of course agree that the vast majority of time the demand is far below the overall capacity?


MR. FERNANDES:  I would agree with that, as would be the temperature compared to our design conditions.


MR. ELSON:  And you would agree that the peaks are short-lived and few in number.


MR. FERNANDES:  Again, I would agree that that is true, as is true with the weather.


MR. ELSON:  That's all I have on the load profile.  I just wanted to get that picture before moving on to the load forecast.


If you could turn, please, to the response to Environmental Defence interrogatory 25, which is at tab 5 of the document book, and specifically at page 6, based on the numbering of the document book.


Now, table 1 provides the actual peak hour, peak day, and annual demands for the GTA project influence area; is that correct?  I'm looking at the response to A on page 6 of the document book, and it is described at the top saying:

"Table 1 provides actual peak hour, peak day, and annual demands for the GTA project influence area."


Is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  That is correct.


MR. ELSON:  Correct.  Thank you.  So the bottom row on this table shows the actual annual demand for natural gas in the GTA project influence area from 2002 to 2012; is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  And during this period, the annual demand remained relatively constant.


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  And the annual demand for natural gas in 2012 was 6 percent lower than it was in 2000, subject to check?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's correct, but I'd point out that these data aren't normalized in any way.  This is what actually occurred.


MR. ELSON:  It's actual data.


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, so there's some variability in here due to weather.


MR. ELSON:  Yes.


MR. DENOMY:  So from 2002 to 2012, we've had some significant customer growth in and around the GTA, in fact across all of our franchise.  So -- and if I recall correctly, I believe 2012 was actually quite a warm year as well.  So that goes to the notion that this is actual data, not normalized.


MR. ELSON:  So I'll pull -- oh, I'm sorry.


MR. DENOMY:  I think if you were to look at this on a normalized basis you might see a bit of a different trend.


MR. ELSON:  So I'll pull up a chart shortly that charts it over time, which may give a more representative picture than just comparing 2012 to 2000.  But I'll move on for now.  I'd just like to stay with this chart and ask you to confirm that the highest demand peak was on a -- 2005, for peak demand.


MR. DENOMY:  Yes, we can confirm that.


MR. ELSON:  And if you could turn to tab 6.


MR. DENOMY:  Sorry.  2004, excuse me.


MR. ELSON:  2004, of course.


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  And if you could turn to tab 6.  And this is the response to Environmental Defence Interrogatory No. 4.  According to the table on this page, the total number of customers in the GTA project influence area grew by about 128,000, or 16 percent, between 2004 and 2012, subject to check?


MR. DENOMY:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. ELSON:  And again, turning back to tab 5, over that same period from 2004 to 2012 when there was a 16 percent increase in customer numbers, the annual gas consumption dropped by nine percent, subject to check?  That's from 278,000 in 2004, down to 253,000 in 2012?


MR. DENOMY:  On an un-normalized basis, yes.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And perhaps now would be a good time to turn to the charting that we have done of this data, and that appears at tab 2 of the Environmental Defence document book.


So to assist in this cross-examination, we've prepared this chart, which shows both the historic demand in the GTA area overlaid with the historic customer growth.  This was based on the numbers provided in the response to ED IR 25 and ED IR 4.  Again, we sent this Excel file to you so that you could confirm that we've prepared the chart correctly.


Do you have any confirm -- any concerns with the way that we have reproduced this data?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. FERNANDES:  So, Mr. Elson, this is based on actual data not normalized to our system design criteria?


MR. ELSON:  Correct.


MR. FERNANDES:  So while no real issue with what you're presenting, I think a lot of this will go to panel 2, and it's not necessarily relevant for system design purposes.


MR. ELSON:  I'm asking it in relation to the purposes of the project, both from the perspective of demand growth and also from the perspective of the project economics.


So we can -- I will bring this up again with the second panel, and perhaps I should ask them about the weather-normalization methodology that you use, but for now, my simple question is whether I've reproduced the data correctly.


And I do understand that it's not weather-normalized.  And the data is from ED 25 and ED 24, those two interrogatories.


Have I reproduced the data correctly in this chart?


MR. FERNANDES:  So I haven't personally checked this chart.  I'm assuming that you have been able to plot it correctly.  I do believe it looks directionally right.


We have -- in our own evidence, we have shown that this system is becoming what we would call "peakier" over time.  So our peaks compared to our average are getting larger, and that has to do with the seasonal nature of our franchise.


So I just think you've plotted and shown the same basic trend in another way.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I would like to actually go through the chart just to explain what all of the lines are.  And perhaps it's obvious, but the red line is your annual demand; that's the red line with diamonds as markers?  Do you see that there?


MR. FERNANDES:  I see that.


MR. ELSON:  And the dotted red line is the linear trend line for your annual demand?  Do you see that there as well?


MR. FERNANDES:  I see that.


MR. ELSON:  And the blue line with triangles as markers is your total customer numbers?


MR. FERNANDES:  I see that as well.


MR. ELSON:  One possible hypothesis to explain why demand has fallen while the number of customers has risen is that climate change is reducing gas consumption for heating, and that existing customers are becoming more efficient.  Would you agree that that is a plausible hypothesis?


MR. DENOMY:  I think in terms of, again, looking at these annual demand trends and the number of customers that we have in the GTA project influence area, not to repeat, but, one, the data are un-normalized, but if you're looking at the trends, I would -- I would agree that energy use has become more efficient.  But that, I don't think, would be the whole story for the trends you're looking at here.


Over time, you also have fluctuations in the economy and economic cycles, and I think as we outlined at Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 5, there has also been a reduction in the number of industrial customers that we have, and therefore industrial load, which could also be impacting the trends that you're seeing here.


MR. ELSON:  Have you conducted any studies to, you know, test this hypothesis, specifically with respect to customers becoming more efficient, or changes in the climate making the winters warmer and then resulting in less demand?


MR. DENOMY:  We haven't done any explicit studies on climate change, although I would say that each and every year we produce a volumetric forecast for the determination of rates.  And in that volumetric forecast, we take into account DSM programs, trends in average use, economic variables, commodity prices, and a whole host of other variables in determining what we think our overall demand is going to be.


I don't know the exact reference, say, for our last filing in terms of our demand forecast, but contained therein is a whole discussion of all of these trends that we've been talking about, without an explicit analysis of climate change.


MR. ELSON:  But that hasn't been incorporated into your forecast in this application?


MR. DENOMY:  Which?


MR. ELSON:  The studies you were just referring to, the material you were just referring to.


MR. DENOMY:  We're just forecasting peak day here, not annual demand.  We're forecasting peak day for the purposes of determining distribution system requirements and facilities to meet demand, and peak day is the most important component of that analysis.


MR. ELSON:  I guess my question was whether you've conducted studies with respect to energy efficiency and climate change impacting annual demand, and whether they were incorporated in your forecast.


You've explained, I believe, some reasons why they weren't; is that a correct summary of what you've just said?


MR. DENOMY:  Yeah, we're not looking at annual demand in this case.  It's peak day demand that we're looking at.


MR. FERNANDES:  It's actually peak hour.


MR. DENOMY:  Peak hour, excuse me, yes.  Peak hour.


MR. ELSON:  I'll move on, but before I do, would you agree that demand from existing customers has been declining on an annual basis?  Average demand?


MR. DENOMY:  I would agree that average use per customer has been declining.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Could you turn to tab 8 of our document book?  And this is in part where some of these annual numbers come into play.


Tab 8 is Exhibit E-1-1, page 8.  This is -- from the application, that is.  This is the summary of inputs for the project economics.


And I understand from this that Enbridge is forecasting that its total number of customers in the GTA project influence area will grow by 131,000 in the next 10 years; i.e., that is to 2023, subject to check.  Would you agree with that?


MR. FERNANDES:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question?


MR. ELSON:  The question is whether you would agree that Enbridge's forecasting that it's total number of customers in the GTA project influence area will grow by 131,000 customers over the next 10 years; i.e., to 2023, subject to check.


That number comes from adding up the incremental customer numbers in this table here.  Am I reading this table correctly?


MR. FERNANDES:  No, that's correct.


MR. ELSON:  And is forecasting that there will be a net increase in the GTA project influence area's annual demand for natural gas of approximately 599 million cubic metres in the next ten years -- that's to 2023 -- and that number comes from adding up the total volumes.


Subject to check, am I reading this table correctly as well?


MR. FERNANDES:  I think you're doing the math on the table correct.  But that's not a forecast of what we expect the incremental volumes in the GTA to be.  It's simply the economic feasibility requirement.  In terms of the customer adds going into that economic feasibility requirement, it's standard process to use the most recent customer volumes by category so that comparisons can be done on a consistent basis.  It's not actually a forecast.


MR. ELSON:  So the economic analysis is based on that number, though.  Is that not right?  These are the inputs for your economic analysis of the project?


MR. FERNANDES:  I think we can bring the detailed questions to the economics panel, but the numbers that you see here are based on the fact that you use the most recently approved numbers for your economic feasibility, in terms of usage per customer.  So they're not a forecast, they're just a consistent methodology in order to present economic feasibility.


MR. ELSON:  So these numbers are the input -- I mean, I'm looking at the title of this document, which is the summary of inputs.  These numbers are the inputs for your economic feasibility analysis; is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  These are used in the economic feasibility forecast.  But I would -- sorry, economic feasibility parameters that were presented, but I wouldn't -- it's not a forecast.


MR. ELSON:  So if these numbers were to change, that would impact your economic feasibility analysis; is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  What I'm saying is, the economic feasibility uses standard inputs --


MR. ELSON:  I know you said that.  My question is very simple, which is whether, if you were to change these numbers, and I think it's obvious, if you were to change these numbers that would change your economic analysis.  These are your inputs.


MR. FERNANDES:  It would change the calculation.  But it would fundamentally be inconsistent with how you normally do economic feasibility.  I think more detailed questions should go to the following panel.


MR. ELSON:  The number that I just quoted was 599 million cubic metres, subject to check.  Is that equivalent to approximately 22.5 thousand tJs?  


[Laughter]


MR. DENOMY:  We'll say subject to check, yes.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I'll tell Jack that you trust him.


And these numbers, again, on this page, these are your inputs into your project economic analysis; is that right?


MR. FERNANDES:  Yeah, this is the summery of inputs into the economic feasibility.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  So to recap what we've gone over today, from 2004 to 2012 Enbridge's customers increased by approximately 128,000, but its annual demand declined by about 25,000 tJs, whereas in this summary of inputs, over the next ten years, the inputs state that there will be an approximately 23,000 tJ increase in annual consumption, which is based on customer additions of 131,000.  Is that an accurate summary, subject to check?


MR. FERNANDES:  So I think you're doing the math correctly, Mr. Elson, but the economic feasibility holds everything constant in 2013 parameters.  It's not a forecast, it's only intended to show the net incremental for comparative purposes.


So just as the economics feasibility would have a 2013 cost of the project, that's not what we're actually asking for.  We're asking for the escalated value.


So the parameters that you're seeing in here are intended to just be used for a consistent approach to show feasibility so that differing projects can be compared against one another.


This is not a forecast.  This is simply the mathematical certainty of our average consumption by customer type, multiplied by the customer adds that we're forecasting.


It's not an actual forecast of what we expect to happen, and it includes nothing with respect to the existing customer set either.


MS. GIRIDHAR:  In particular, I don't believe you can draw linkages between these numbers in any analysis you do of actual volumes over the last eight- or nine-year period.  For one, in the one instance, you're looking at system averages aggregated over different customer types, et cetera, not adjusted for weather.  This is a completely different approach.  And you're looking at incremental customers.


MR. ELSON:  You've added a lot more information here, but I think the basic beginning of your question is that I have summarized those numbers correctly.  We can discuss in argument or with the economics panel how those should be reflected in a cost-benefit analysis under EBO-188, but that's not a discussion I'm trying to have today.


So I'm actually going to move on from the load-growth portion and ask the remainder of those questions to the next panel.  And I will actually now turn to some high-level questions about the project economics.


So my understanding is that Enbridge believes that the economic benefits of the project exceed economic costs.  The purpose of my questions is to see if this still holds up in a scenario where there is no growth or declining growth, and in a scenario where the project therefore isn't needed in order to meet customer additions or load growth.


So my understanding is that under the scenario that we are wanting to look at, under a no-growth scenario, where the project isn't needed to serve growth or customer additions, you couldn't count any of the distribution revenues from incremental customers as a benefit of the project; is that correct?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. FERNANDES:  Can you clarify the question?  Are you saying in the case where there were no customers added to the system?


MR. ELSON:  No, that's not what I'm saying.  What I'm saying is, in a scenario where your peak demand is constant or declining, and therefore you do not need this project in order to meet your peak demand in the GTA area, so this project isn't needed in order to add new customers or to address new growth, wouldn't you agree that you couldn't count any incremental distribution revenues as being a benefit of this project?


MR. FERNANDES:  I'm not sure what that hypothetical situation would look like, but I think we can go to Exhibit A, tab 3, Schedule 9.  I believe it's attachment 3 that shows our economic sensitivities.  And I think it would be beneficial to demonstrate what was already put on the record.


So what was provided in our pre-filed evidence was a comparison in column 1 to our previous application when there was a change in the proposed facilities.  Column 2 shows the current base case, which has a 42-inch for segment A.


We've provided these economic sensitivity summaries in a variety of the interrogatories, but also in the pre-filed evidence.  And what we've shown here is a variety of sensitivities, and I believe the Board could find this actually useful.


So column 2 shows, as proposed, the EBO-188 methodology, but we've provided in columns 3 through 7 a number of cases.  And one of those cases in column 6 would be our current base case, but assuming that there are no customer additions whatsoever.


And as you can see, the net present value is a $449 million value, with a profitability index of 1.75.  Is that -- I believe that's what you were referring to?


MR. ELSON:  No.  I'm referring to a scenario where you still have customer additions, but despite the fact that you have customer additions, your growth is either constant or declining, and in that scenario, even though you have additional customers, my understanding of how you would do a cost-benefit analysis of a project like this is that you could not attribute those additional distribution revenues from additional customers to this project, because this project isn't needed to hook those customers up; is that correct?


I'm seeing you nodding there.


MR. FERNANDES:  This scenario 6 that I just referred to takes away all of the incremental distribution revenues from the incremental customer adds, along with the associated capital of attaching them to the system.


So I believe this is the scenario that you're referring to.


MR. ELSON:  I guess the difference between scenario 6 and what I'm talking about is that there would in fact be customer additions.  Simply, you couldn't attribute those customer additions to being a benefit of this project.


So scenario 6, maybe the numbers will work out to be the same, but I'm talking about a no-growth scenario where you do have customer additions but you can't attribute their additional revenue as being a benefit from this project.


MR. FERNANDES:  That is scenario 6.  We have not attributed any revenue from customer additions, nor have we included any costs associated with attaching those customers, assuming the justification for attaching them, their revenue, would recover that.


This is completely outside of the project.  So scenario 6 has no customer additions.


MR. ELSON:  So I guess scenario 6 is then consistent with our scenario, where there are customer additions.  It's just not being incorporated into the math; is that what you're saying?


MR. FERNANDES:  That is correct.  That's what I'm saying.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  So we'd like to do some of our own calculations to look at the economics of this project, based on a no-growth scenario.


The number that you have here for the total upfront capital, is that a present value figure?  I'm looking again, I'm sorry, at Exhibit A, tab 3, schedule 9, attachment 3.


MR. FERNANDES:  The total upfront capital as described in the exhibit is a constant dollar value, 2013.


MR. ELSON:  So that would be equivalent to a PV?


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.


MR. ELSON:  And the forecast total transportation savings further down the line here, which is 1.7 billion, is that a PV number or is that a total number?


MR. FERNANDES:  That's a total number.  That's not a PV number.


MR. ELSON:  Could you provide the PV for the total transportation savings, as well as the PV for the total service charges?


MR. FERNANDES:  The discounted cash flow tables that are attached in Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 1, do have the discounted values for all of these.  It would require summing up the numbers for the 10 years.


MR. ELSON:  I was looking at those and I wasn't able to derive these specific figures that I'm looking for.


If you could provide them by way of undertaking, it would be appreciated.


I believe that there is an aggregation on the discounted cash flow tables that makes it difficult to pull out the transportation savings and the transportation service charges as a PV figure.  So if you could provide that by way of undertaking, I'd appreciate that.


MR. FERNANDES:  We can.  Can we just -- I'm sorry, excuse me.  Can you go back and clarify exactly what you're looking for?


MR. ELSON:  What we're looking for?  And I'll actually add one other item to the list.


So could you provide the present value of each of the following?  One, the forecast total transportation savings up to 2025?  Two is the forecast total transportation service charges, but only up to 2025.  And three is the forecast total transportation service charges up to 2040.


MR. MILLAR:  J4.9.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.9:  TO PROVIDE PRESENT VALUE OF 1) FORECAST TOTAL TRANSPORTATION SAVINGS UP TO 2025; 2) FORECAST TOTAL TRANSPORTATION SERVICE CHARGES UP TO 2025, AND 3) FORECAST TOTAL TRANSPORTATION SERVICE CHARGES UP TO 2040.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I'm going to go through the numbers on this table to try to ascertain exactly what the project economics would look like under a no-peak growth scenario.


So starting with the first row, the upfront capital would stay the same.  And like you have in column 6 here, the next four rows, these are future reinforcement projects to address rising demand; is that correct?


MR. FERNANDES:  The future reinforcements come from our long-term planning process.  They're not part of the application here today, and they were included in the economic feasibility because we do have forecasts for those.


And the assumption under the no-customer additions was that they would not be required, and we pulled them out to show if we were not going to have any of the incremental customer adds, the customers' capital, or the other reinforcements.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And I should just clarify what I'm talking about when I saw a no-growth scenario is that you do have customer additions but you don't have peak load growth.  Are we on the same page?


MR. FERNANDES:  We're on the same page, except in terms of economic feasibility, if we're going to take out the associated revenue from incremental customers, we need to take out the associated capital, such as the service line, the meter and the local distribution mains.


And that's what's shown in column 6.


MR. ELSON:  And that makes sense to me, and I wanted to confirm that, but when you -- you referred to no customer additions.  I'm just -- those customer additions aren't included in the economic analysis, but we're not challenging that those customer additions are going to actually happen.  I just want to make sure we're on the same page with that.


MR. FERNANDES:  Correct.  They've been removed in column 6 from the analysis of this project.  By no means is that inferring that they're not going to happen, but the associated revenue from those customers would have to be associated with the cost to attach them, and that would be some other application or -- not included in column 6.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And moving down to the total transportation savings, under a no-growth scenario, these savings would, I believe, decrease but not by a large amount; is that correct?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. DENOMY:  So the total transportation savings wouldn't change, because these savings are calculated based on contracting in our first year of service for the GTA project.  And we've assumed that the contracting shift that occurs remains constant over the next 10 years.


MR. ELSON:  But from a cost --


MR. DENOMY:  They don't take into account growth in any way.


MR. ELSON:  So the transportation service --


MR. DENOMY:  Savings.


MR. ELSON:  -- savings are based on existing volumes?


MR. DENOMY:  It's static over time.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Is it static over time or is it based on existing volumes?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  It's us based on a one-time shift that would occur in 2015.


MR. DENOMY:  Yes.


MR. ELSON:  Is that one-time shift in order to account for increase in demand?  What's the one-time shift?


MS. GIRIDHAR:  The one-time shift is to displace less reliable discretionary supplies that we have today, notionally with long-haul transport in the intervening period, because that's the only option we believe we have, and then back to short-haul.


So it doesn't include growth in any ways.  It's a shift in our gas supply portfolio to leverage the capabilities of the GTA project.


MR. ELSON:  And your transportation savings are based on a forecast price differential between Dawn and Empress of, I believe -- is it 48 cents per gJ?


MR. DENOMY:  No, it's about 51 cents per gJ on average from 2015 to 2025.


I apologize, I'm kind of hanging off the end here.  There's not a lot of room.


MR. ELSON:  And as outlined in TCPL's evidence, the current differential is about $1.50 per gJ?


MR. DENOMY:  At the time TransCanada submitted its evidence, yes.


MR. ELSON:  And Union's application assumes a differential of about 92 cents per gJ?


MR. DENOMY:  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  Could you undertake to provide the PV of the transportation savings based on those different price levels, which would be 92 cents and $1.50?


MR. DENOMY:  I believe we could, although I would point out that we did conduct a scenario analysis based on our current base case for the expected gas-supply benefits or the transportation savings in response to TCPL No. 2, which can be found at Exhibit I-A-1, EGD update, TCPL 2.


MR. ELSON:  Are you willing to provide that update for me?  Those PV values would be helpful for us to look at in a number of different scenarios.


MR. DENOMY:  I believe we could do so, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  J9.10.  Sorry, J4.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. J4.10:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE OF THE TRANSPORTATION SAVINGS BASED ON THE DIFFERENT PRICE LEVELS OF 92 CENTS AND $1.50


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I have a number of more questions.  I notice that it is one o'clock, so I can stop now.  I'll have to resume where I left off, but if the Panel would like to finish for the afternoon if that's more convenient.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  Thank you very much.


So we will rise for today.  So we are now scheduled to sit next week on Tuesday, Thursday, and Friday.  And as we indicated at the beginning of the proceeding, it is our -- it was always our intention to sit, what we're calling half-days, from 8:30 to 1:00, and we would continue to do that.  However, the Panel has some flexibility.  So I'm going to invite staff counsel and staff to discuss with the applicants if a schedule of 9:00 to 1:30 would be preferable, because we believe that that's an alternative that's available.


So with that we will rise until Tuesday morning.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:03 p.m.
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